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From the 
Chair

It has been almost a year since I put my hand up 
to become the Chair of WAFIC. I said at last year’s 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) that my priority 
was industry unity. Honestly speaking it is still a 
work in progress but one that we are continuing 
to drive. Industry unity is more than developing 
unified messages, it is bigger picture thinking 
where we work as one. If our seafood sector is to 
have a vibrant and dynamic future, we need to move 
forward – together. 

The past year has been full of considerable change 
and challenges as the Board embarked in a new 
direction resulting in a radically different Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO). I would like to thank our 
retiring CEO John Harrison who held the reins for 
six years and professionally led the organisation 
through both exciting times and difficult periods. 
Our new CEO, Alex Ogg, brings with him practical 
knowledge, passion and strategic vision to lead our 
industry at this important time. He is the perfect fit 
for WAFIC and the new strategic direction recently 
ratified by our Board. 

The essence of the 2018/19 year has been focused 
on redefining WAFIC – the what, how and why. 
This is important for not only the future of the 
organisation, but the increasing needs from 
industry to confront threats to resource access. 
There is no denying that WA’s commercial seafood 
sector is full of challenges. Our seafood producers 
continue to be bound by red tape, increased fuel 
prices, ever-growing scrutiny and encroachment 
by government, environmental concerns and other 
users of the marine resource. This is exactly why 
WAFIC needs to be in a strong, sustainable and 
secure position – to ensure industry voices are 
heard and to safeguard WA’s seafood sector.

At the end of 2018 and into early 2019 property 
rights in our industry were drawn into sharp and 
very public attention in relation to the ‘western 
rock lobster wars’. The issue of certainty around 
fishing rights has continued to be a high priority 
matter for discussion and concern in the industry, 

sparking a public enquiry. Strengthening property 
rights across all fishery and aquaculture sectors in 
WA legislation is a fundamental strategic priority 
for WAFIC.

In late 2019 the Committee of the Legislative 
Council in the Western Australian Parliament 
is conducting an inquiry into property rights. 
WAFIC has made a strong submission to the 
Committee and will join with other industry 
sectors to reinforce that message to this important 
Committee in its hearings. This is a significant 
opportunity to re-inforce to Parliament the extreme 
importance of property rights to commercial 
fishing, and defined processes of adjustment should 
those rights be resumed or reallocated. 

There have been a number of considerable 
initiatives at WAFIC throughout the year including 
undertaking new initiatives in border security, 
single use plastics and container deposit scheme 
returns. The new direction in these areas is 
important as it showcases to the community 
that we are an industry that doesn’t just fish but 
contributes to community with a strong social 
conscience. The seafood industry is made up of 
hundreds of small businesses throughout the state, 
that are supporting both local and regional coastal 
communities and providing jobs and economic 
opportunities along the value chain from hook to 
plate. It is important that the community knows 
that their local seafood industry is woven into the 
fabric of society – including eyes on the water, 
ocean clean ups, charity work, sponsorship and key 
partnerships. These initiatives are a priority for the 
Board and areas that WAFIC will continue to grow 
and progress. 

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
WAFIC Board members and staff who I have worked 
with over the past year. The passion, commitment 
and leadership that they provided during the 18/19 
year is imperative to WAFIC’s future success, as the 
organisation evolves to meet the needs of members 
in a rapidly changing environment.
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“The seafood industry is made up 
of hundreds of small businesses 

throughout the state, that are 
supporting both local and 

regional coastal communities 
and providing jobs and 

economic opportunities.”
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From the 
CEO 

I was immensely honoured to be asked by our Chair to step into the fray as Interim 
CEO following John Harrison’s resignation in May. I’d like to extend my thanks and 
best wishes to John for his steady hand at the wheel over the past 6 years, and my 
sincere best wishes for his future journey.

In August I was appointed to the role of CEO, giving 
me firm grounding to shepherd WAFIC through the 
ever evolving landscape ahead and to work with 
our Board towards a re-wiring of our operating 
system in the form of a new strategic direction and 
operational plan.

Securing resource access and property rights 
remain the two clear priorities for WAFIC. Achieving 
success towards these objectives however, 
will necessitate a number of step-changes in 
our approach should we expect better outcomes. 
First and foremost is fostering an industry united in 
its vision for our fisheries, pearling and aquaculture 
in the longer term towards a seafood industry which 
is Strong, Secure and Sustainable. 

On the back of a cohesive industry, WAFIC can 
invest in strengthening its relationships with 
the recreational, conservation and resources 
sectors, demonstrating the value of our industry to 
government and our community. Lacking the ability 
to work collaboratively across these sectors with 

an understanding of the values important to these 
communities, we will continue to fight in the trenches 
and fight on the beaches and should expect nothing 
but the same substandard outcomes we have seen in 
recent decades. Our critical threshold as an industry 
is to learn to work together towards the objectives 
which define and nourish our fishing, pearling and 
blossoming aquaculture sectors.

Importantly we need to focus collectively on 
challenging negative community perceptions. 
Whether it is footage from overseas fisheries, 
highly targeted emotive campaigns which ignore 
science, or ill-informed comments on social media, 
the seafood community is surrounded by negative 
imagery and phrases that threaten our access 
(think Australian sea lions, crocodile interactions 
and flesh footed shearwaters). 

To this end WAFIC has engaged with 
communications experts to implement a new 
communications and stakeholder engagement 
strategy. This comprehensive strategy will assist 
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us to set direction, reinforce our key interactions 
with our stakeholders and build upon relationships 
with industry members, the various layers of 
government and the broader community. In the 
coming months you will see us reiterating and 
leveraging values-based messages including the 
vital contribution our industry men and women make 
to our local economy and regional communities. 
As difficult as it becomes at times, I will ensure that 
we continue to work with and positively influence 
government and the Minister of the day to reduce 
uncertainty, remove unnecessary impediments, 
strengthen relationships and provide a vibrant future 
for our future generations of seafood producers.

A CEO is only as good as their team, and the 
effectiveness of WAFIC’s team, as good as they 
are as individuals, will be defined by how well 
we understand our members and the needs of 
our industry. A key element of our strategy is 
understanding issues, finding common ground and 
building on those pieces to bring our industry closer 
together with a strength of voice. Part of my new 
role that I am excited about is the WAFIC listening 
tours – which will help staff and directors connect 
the dots between industry and external parties and 
inform our operational plans. It will also give me 

Organisational structure

WAFIC Board

Chief Executive Officer

Industry  
MSC Project 

Leader

Executive  
Officer  

Oil and Gas

Senior  
Resource  

Access Officer

Communications 
Officer

Finance  
Officer

Administration 
Officer

a chance to meet with our members, to assist in 
understanding their view points and local issues, 
and for our members to put faces to a name and 
become more invested in the future of their peak 
industry body. 

Importantly regional tours based on listening and 
gaining trust give WAFIC opportunities to work 
more closely with industry in order to promote the 
substantial economic, social and environmental 
values of WA’s commercial fisheries. The Aquatic 
Resources Management Act (ARMA), through its 
‘resource’ based approach underpins the necessity 
for the seafood sector in developing community 
trust – trust being the new currency in accessing a 
community resource. 

I look forward to further developing and building 
effective relationships and partnerships with 
organisations (be they like-minded or not so) and 
providing WA’s seafood industry with dynamic new 
opportunities to demonstrate our true value towards 
this aim. I look forward to engaging with members 
across our broad portfolio and finding those common 
threads which bind us and contribute to making WA’s 
seafood industry Secure, Sustainable and Strong.

“I look forward to engaging with 
members across our broad 
portfolio and finding those 

common threads which bind us.”
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It has been a very challenging year with the Department’s ongoing amalgamation into 
the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD). With the 
associated significant structural changes and reduction of human resources to the 
entire fishing industry being blind-sided by WA Government plans to introduce and 
take control of new quota within the Western Rock Lobster Managed Fishery, finding 
traction on a number of key industry initiatives has been slowed.

Resource 
Access

The WA Government’s planned change to the 
Western Rock Lobster management would have 
given the Government a stake in a fully allocated 
fishery which has effectively been fishing to 
maximum economic yield. This announcement 
in November 2018 had an instant impact on 
the investment confidence within the industry, 
raised sovereign risk concerns and generated 
serious questions around security of fishing rights 
around the country. In reflection, the plan brought 
the commercial industry together quickly and 
WAFIC strongly supported the rock lobster industry, 
making a public submission outlining industry’s 
strong opposition.

In February 2019 WAFIC also helped organise the 
‘Tipping Point’ meeting which saw the national 
peak body, Seafood Industry Australia (SIA), 
and key industry figures from across Australia 
gather in Fremantle to discuss current threats 
to resource security and identify and prioritise 
potential solutions. Tipping Point led to SIA forming 

a Resource Security Task Force to continue to 
prioritise strategies and activities to achieve 
improved natural resource security for the 
Australian seafood industry. WAFIC will continue to 
contribute to this task force over the coming year.

In June 2019 the WA Government Legislative 
Council’s Standing Committee on Public 
Administration initiated an inquiry into Private 
Property Rights. WAFIC sought industry comment 
and, through its governance and legislation 
subcommittee, made a comprehensive submission 
to the Standing Committee on behalf of both the 
wild catch and aquaculture sectors. The submission 
outlines the importance of property rights to 
effective fisheries management and sustainable 
economic development and the importance or fair 
compensation when these rights are impinged. 
WAFIC will have the opportunity to be heard before 
the Standing Committee in late 2019 and the 
Committee are to deliver their report to Parliament 
by March 2020.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL 
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Continuing Uncertainty
Industry confidence has been eroded by uncertainty 
around marine park planning, implementation 
and compensation processes and further delays in 
achieving the new Aquatic Resource Management 
Act (ARMA). WAFIC have supported amendments 
to progress the new Act which, while not perfect, 
promises to deliver improved security, longevity and 
transferability of fishing rights under a resource 
based framework. 

We look forward to moving on from these issues 
and securing a vibrant and profitable future 
for WA fisheries. We will also be working on a 
strategy to ensure “non-priority fisheries” are not 
disadvantaged in planned discussions with 
DPIRD regarding a transition to smaller fishery 
self-management aims.

Collaborative Approaches to 
Resource Sharing
The past year saw the finalisation of a significant 
resource sharing issue in the Kimberley Gill Net 
and Barramundi fishery in Derby. After months 
of negotiations involving WAFIC and Recfishwest 
(RFW), the commercial fisher and the Derby 
community, an amenable solution to the resource 
sharing challenge was finally reached by engaging in 
an independent mediation process with stakeholder 
representatives and advisors. While this ultimately 

resulted in the Minister announcing a permanent 
commercial fishing closure for the southern end 
of King Sound, the commercial fishing operator 
was able to retain access further from town to 
supply fresh fish to the WA community and was 
appropriately compensated for the loss of waters 
historically fished.

The recreational and commercial sectors also 
worked collaboratively to deliver a shared vision 
following the recent South West blue swimmer 
crab resource review. WAFIC worked closely with 
the Southern Seafood Producers WA (SSPWA) 
and Recfishwest (RFW) to reach an agreed set 
of management recommendations providing a 
practical solution to protect breeding females 
while delivering social objectives (improved fishing 
experience, charter and tourism) and ensuring the 
viability of the commercial industry into the future.

The joint recommendations also included a process 
for improving recreational catch monitoring and 
compliance outcomes in the next stage. A voluntary 
buyback for commercial licences across several 
fisheries will provide much needed clarity 
and certainty for some commercial operators, 
particularly those in the Cockburn Sound Crab 
Managed Fishery which has been closed to 
commercial fishing for many years, mainly due to 
environmental changes.

“Securing the future of Western 
Australia’s world-leading 

commercial fisheries is our 
top priority.”
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“A number of WA species will soon be 
added to the official register of approved 
products on the China import list on the 
back of WAFIC’s work.”

WAFIC are eager to see the recreational and charter 
sectors show a similar level of commitment over 
the coming year to work with Government to control 
the recreational catch of demersal scalefish on 
the West Coast. Excessive mortality levels from 
unconstrained recreational catch is preventing 
the recovery of our demersal scalefish stocks and 
Impacting on the viability of commercial operators 
and this fishery is now at a crisis point. We are still 
pushing for any real action in this area despite the 
recreational catch for some demersal indicators 
being over the target for more than a decade.

Other Access Considerations
WAFIC continued to ensure the voice of the 
commercial fishing industry is heard through 
representation in a range of state, national and 
international issues potentially impacting access, 
rights and the environments our fisheries depend 
on. For example, WAFIC have supported SSPWA 
and the Aquaculture Council of WA (ACWA) in 
ensuring the environmental, commercial fishing 
and aquaculture values have been appropriately 
considered in Westport’s new port planning process. 

WAFIC also supported the SSPWA and the Mandurah 
Professional Fishermen’s Association in providing 
submissions opposing the Point Grey marina 
development in the Harvey Estuary and the location 
of the Ocean Reef Marina in Perth metro. 

Similarly, WAFIC, SSPWA and RFW all opposed 
the closure of the Canal Rock Boat Ramp. 
The Environment Minister finally announced in 
March that the ramp would undergo some safety 
upgrades and stay open to all users.

WAFIC have also continued to play a role in 
supporting new developmental fishing opportunities 
while ensuring existing stakeholders are adequately 
consulted and their access and rights are preserved. 
This year WAFIC lobbied to ensure developmental 
cockle exemptions in Shark Bay were renewed to 
include modifications to nomination processes to 
increase flexibility and improve fisher safety.

In addition to work required around Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) certified fisheries, 
WAFIC also contributes to ensure Environment 
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 
(EPBC) export approvals continue. WAFIC helps 
to develop industry codes of practice, refine 
bycatch mitigation strategies and contribute to the 
development of harvest or recovery strategies. 

This year WAFIC, industry members and the 
recreational and charter sectors participated in the 
development of a draft recovery strategy for the pink 
snapper resource in the Gascoyne. The strategy 
contains clear timelines for reporting and outlines 
the expected performance indicators for stock 
recovery. It also outlines different management 
options if sectors go over benchmark mortality 
levels or stocks fail to recover as expected.

In 2019 WAFIC took a leadership role in securing 
access to markets and have been working for more 
than two years with the Seafood Trade Advisory 
Group (STAG). A number of WA species will soon be 
added to the official register of approved products on 
the China import list on the back of WAFIC’s work.

Dr Matt Pember 
Resource Access Officer
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Industry Communications and 
Stakeholder Engagement

Industry communications and stakeholder engagement continue to be vitally 
important and a core component of WAFIC. As the organisation is continuously 
evolving to cater to the ever-fluctuating industry needs – it is crucial that WAFIC is 
transparent, accountable and consistent when delivering key messages.

How we engage with 
stakeholders
Below are examples of our key stakeholders 
and the ways in which we engage with them.

• Communities: social media, festivals and 
events, monthly newsletter, sponsorship 
opportunities and media.

• Industry: emails, social media, 
monthly newsletter, phone calls, 
meetings, text messages, joint initiatives, 
collaborations, ongoing dialogue and 
engagement activities. 

• Governments and regulatory authorities: 
Engagement through regular phone-calls, 
face-to-face meetings, participation in 
forums, correspondence and emails. 

• Non-governmental organisations (NGOs): 
ongoing dialogue, routine meetings, 
stakeholder convenings, memberships of 
business and industry associations.

• Media: Face-to-face meetings, phone calls 
and direct inquiries.

Media
This year over 20 media releases were published to 
the wider community on topics such as the federal 
election, seafood industry awards, seafood trail, 
Australia day, Parliament House function, resource 
access, public submissions, property rights and 
government intervention. Media, including metro 
and regional, were also active in seeking WAFIC’s 
opinion on a range of subjects including what 
being sustainable means, economic success of 
fisheries, what is being done to future proof fish 
stocks off the WA coast, what species are available 
this season, public inquiry on seismic exploration, 
industries view on property rights and many more. 
The WA seafood industry has been positively 
featured across most Western Australian media 
channels including the West Australian, Community 
News, television stations (Channel 7, 9, 10) radio 
stations (6PR 882, 720 ABC Perth, Mix 94.5 and 
Hit 92.9). Regional media included GWN News, 
ABC and 93.7 Coast FM. 

It has been excellent to see the amount of positive 
content from various seafood industry channels 
coming in. Most recently we’ve seen fishers Glen 
Hoult and Jimmy Polland on film via ABC talking 
about their life up in Shark Bay, an article promoting 
the hard-work by licence holders into ensuring 
a sustainable future for the beloved species – 
Pinctada Maxima, the aquaculture industry on 
providing locals with jobs and a special lady by the 
name of Muriel ‘Moo’ Thomas recognised for her 
work in the Western Rock Lobster industry at the 
Abrolhos Islands. These types of main-steam media 
stories are critical for us as producers of local 
seafood to be able to continually showcase to our 
communities who we are and what we do and it’s 
been fantastic to watch such a strong uptake of our 
unique industry stories.

11
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Communications Strategy
To strengthen our objectives WAFIC sought advice 
from a communications agency to develop a 
communications strategy to:

• improve upon the community’s perception of 
WA’s commercial seafood industry;

• build capital in social licence for our industry; 
and

• reposition WAFIC both within WA’s seafood 
sector and with stakeholders external to the 
seafood industry.

In its draft format, the communications strategy is a 
solid start to improve upon WAFIC’s major objective 
– enhance community perceptions to create a 
political environment that is supportive of the WA’s 
seafood industries fundamental need to maintain 
or gain access to marine resources.

In the future, WAFIC key messages will articulate 
that Western Australia’s billion-dollar commercial 
fishing, pearling and aquaculture sectors are 
Secure, Sustainable and Strong. The reiteration 
of these concise, tailored and relevant messages 
are important to communicate, in a controlled 
manner, the value WA’s seafood industry brings to 
stakeholders, including the community. 

Information Pieces 
Earlier this year, WAFIC in conjunction with SSPWA 
released an informative email about Australian 
salmon in response to conflict on southern beaches 
between commercial and recreational fishers. 
The email was an educational piece to balance 
negative reports circulating across social media. 
The email celebrated the species and advised the 
seasonality, future of salmon in our food web (i.e. 
Parry’s Beach salmon), innovation, importance of 
salmon as a bait source and the responsibility of 
all fishers – including recreational and commercial 
fishers. The text reiterated that – there is enough 
for all to share but there needs to be a deeper 
understanding and a shared set of values across 
recreational and commercial fishing communities as 
stewards of the resource. In the future, it is WAFIC’s 
priority to ensure that there are appropriately 
balanced and informative emails like the salmon 
example, and the WAFIC monthly newsletter, 
published to the community regularly. 

“Western Australia’s billion-dollar 
commercial fishing, pearling and 
aquaculture sectors are Secure, 
Sustainable and Strong.”
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Stakeholder Liaison 
WAFIC also continued to protect and promote 
the interests of WA’s fisheries through active 
involvement with groups including the national 
peak industry body – Seafood Industry Australia 
(SIA), the Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) and the new Seafood Industry 
Safety Initiative. WAFIC staff also had regular 
engagement with the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD), the 
office of the Minister for Fisheries and various tiers 
of government from local to national.

WAFIC’s ability to work with key stakeholder groups 
were tested by assisting to resolve conflict in the 
Kimberley Gillnet and Barramundi Fishery during 
mediation with fishers and the Derby community, 
supported jointly by WAFIC and Recfishwest. 
Collaboration with Southern Seafood Producers 
and Recfishwest over the southwest crab resource 
review also provided outcomes far superior to the 
blanket closures originally proposed by managers 
for access to those important fisheries.

Key Submissions 
WAFIC made strong representation to Parks 
Australia over the long running Commonwealth, 
and improved the national formula used to calculate 
direct assistance to impacted fishers. While not 
a perfect process, the zonal boundaries achieved 
under the current government are a far cry from 
the aspirational percentage of no take zones of the 
conservation sector. Grants assistance applications 
were successful in funding three projects to assist 
transition to the new marine reserves structure for a 
total of $1.373 million. 

WAFIC made a strong submission into the WA 
Senate inquiry on Private Property Rights to see our 
fishing rights viewed as a form of private property 
in legislation, with appropriate compensation 
mechanisms should those rights be resumed. 
WAFIC will be represented in hearings on that issue 
later in the year.

WAFIC also engaged with DPIRD over the draft 
regulations for the Aquatic Resources Management 
Act and technical amendments to the legislation.
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Building Community 
Support 

Building Community Support brings us onto the topic of the seafood industry’s ever-
increasing need of ‘social licence to operate’. Social licence is an area where there is 
a lot of misjudgement – but it is a critical component to any primary industries future.

WAFIC continues to ensure that the achievements 
of WA’s world-class, sustainable seafood 
industry are highlighted to key stakeholders 
and local communities so ‘social licence’ is 
continuously improved. 

Our key messages are presented in a variety of 
forms including at festivals and events, social 
media, newsflashes, newsletters, through positive 
stories, media and more. Additionally, earlier this 
year, an Agrifood Alliance WA Working Group which 
comprises of stakeholders from WA primary industry 
associations and industry representatives, was 
set up to work towards the improvement of social 
licence across primary production sectors. WAFIC 
is a key partner and part of the Working Group 
which outlined the initial strategic plan and actions 

required including undertaking pilot market research 
to explore key drivers of consumer trust in food 
across WA fishing sectors and agriculture sectors. 

Social Media
From stories about industry men and women, media 
articles about our seafood sector to restaurants 
and cafés throughout the state using WA seafood 
– there is never a dull moment across the WAFIC’s 
social channels.

Being online continues to be a priority for WAFIC 
with the number of followers continuing to increase 
across both Facebook and Instagram. With the 
community wanting more information, and our 
primary industry being scrutinised by groups 
opposing fishing more than ever – there has never 

@freshfishshack

@southwesternfreshfish
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been a better time to showcase industries goodwill, 
whether it is in the form of charity, the environment 
or education. The seafood sector has an important 
role to play within the community – and these digital 
channels give us a platform to share our voice.

Although there is always a risk for the seafood 
industry being on social media, the advantage is the 
sector can be easily transparent and open about the 
hard work that goes on behind the scenes.

WAFIC’s Facebook has become a hub – bringing 
together WA’s seafood sector including the 
aquaculture, pearling and fishing segments. But the 
work must be credited to WA’s seafood industry 
members. Each day unique content is posted from 
the men and women across WA’s local seafood 
sector, restaurants, fish and chip shops, retailers and 
wholesalers. What this content does is promote the 
essence of the seafood sector to the WA community 
and educate them about the important role it plays. 

Additionally, we need to thank our hospitality 
members, our seafood ambassadors and chefs who 
ensure that our seafood industry is proudly labelled as 
Western Australian. This gives consumers the choice, 
that they deserve, to be able to choose local. Without 
this help – there would be limited opportunities to 
openly promote Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 
certified and WA’s unique seafood sector including the 
beautiful, sustainable seafood that comes with it. 

Creating content and stories is a team effort 
– WAFIC is in a position to aid, educate and 
encourage but it is critical that industry members 
share their successes and positive contributions. 
With our 13,000km coastline full of pristine waters, 
our well-managed fisheries and sustainability 
– why wouldn’t we want to promote to our local 
community the wonders of WA’s seafood sector! 

Danika Gusmeroli 
Communications Officer

facebook.com.au/waseafood

instagram.com.au/waseafood

“Creating content and stories is a team 
effort – WAFIC is in a position to aid, 

educate and encourage but it is up to 
industry members to share their

successes and positive contributions.”

Out There Fishing  
@fishing.com.au
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Industry Stories
Working in conjunction with social media are the stories that make their way from 
industry to our Communication Officer. These stories are then written and uploaded 
online for a wide range of stakeholders to view to better understand WA’s dynamic 
and exciting seafood industry. 

Stories can be milestones, memories, community/
charity work, country of origin labelling or 
highlights. Industry articles are written to break 
down perceptions by offering an insight into fishing 

methods, the industry and the hardworking person 
behind the scenes.

Here is a synopsis of some of our most read stories 
from the year: 

The Adventures of Diving for Pearl Shells – 
September 20 2018

Jon Stuart’s love affair with diving began 
when he was a 9-year-old child in Albany. 
As a young man he was selected to dive 
for pearls – which turned out to be the 
adventure of a lifetime as he and the crew 
travelled across northern Western Australia. 
Over the duration of a couple of years, 
concluding in 1979 as head diver, Stuart 
was towed across the bottom of the ocean, 
picking up shells – and often encountering 
the weird, wonderful and terrifying.

Gavin Jackman – A Man on A Mission 
to Change Perceptions of WA’s Seafood 
Industry – December 21 2018

Albany fisherman Gavin Jackman is a 
fourth-generation commercial fisher who 
at the timing of publishing the article had 
recently set up his own stall at the Albany 
market to sell fresh fish direct to the public. 
A man on a mission – he urges the public 
to meet with him and discover the truth of 
WA’s great primary industry. For without 
the men and women who fish – there is no 
public access to fresh, local and sustainable 
seafood. A harsh reality.

16
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Seafood Labelling Ensure Quality at Fins Seafood – October 31 2018

In a health-conscious era, where more and more consumers are wanting to know where their produce is 
from – it’s a no brainer for retailers, wholesalers and even chefs to capitalise on provenance labelling. In 
October last year, the duo behind Fins Seafood announced via Instagram new labelling across their seafood 
products. The small plastic label resides on fish and details the vessel and the fishing area.

Maxima Pearling Company Celebrates 
Three Decades – December 21 2018

The Hutton family owned and operated 
Maxima Pearling Company celebrated 
30 years in business in November 2018 as 
a successful, genuine producer of beautiful 
Australian South Sea pearls, a contributor 
to the economy and provider of employment 
with a focus on expansion that benefits the 
wider community. Maxima Pearling Company 
continues to operate in the local region and 
with pearling, aquaculture, edible oysters 
and an ongoing Research and Development 
program – the next 30 years is well underway.

Rikki Hillman – Mother, Wife and 
3rd Generation Commercial Fisher – 
December 20 2018

2018 was a big year for Rikki Hillman. 
The young mother recently gave birth to 
beautiful baby girl and became the owner 
of an Exmouth Beach Seine commercial 
fishing licence given to her by her 90-year-old 
granddad. She looks forward to the challenge 
of going full-time in the role – foreseeing new 
priorities and opportunities for the family’s 
generational business. But most importantly, 
she sees this as a wonderful experience 
for her little girl to grow up on the beach – 
just like she did.

“Industry articles are written to break 
down perceptions by offering an insight 

into fishing methods, the industry and the 
hardworking person behind the scenes.”
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Meeting and Greeting Industry
One of the highlights earlier this year was the 
opportunity for WAFIC and the Department of 
Primary Industry and Regional Development 
(DPIRD) staff to attend a one-day adventure along 
the coast of Bunbury to learn about the South West 
Beach Seine fishery headed by industry veterans 
Nick Soulos and Alan Miles. The job… to spot 
whitebait and get their feet wet. The educational 
experience was raw and honest, where industry 
legends spoke candidly about their fishing 
experiences (and life lessons) to eager participants. 

If there was one point to take away from the 
experience, it was that our commercial fishermen 
and women act as the unofficial guardians of the 
ocean. Before the group took off on their 4WDing 
safari across the beaches between Bunbury and 
Mandurah, experienced generational fisher Nick 
Soulos got a call from his son, also a fisher, advising 
of a shark sighting. Knowing that a Bunbury dolphin 
cruise was going out that day (where patrons swam), 
Nick quickly phoned the cruise owners, advising 
them of the sighting. Let’s just say he was greeted 
by sheer appreciation.

The trip confirmed what the participants all knew…
the harsh realities of day-to-day life. But it is these 
generational fishers who have indeed fallen in 
love with our oceans and waterways. It’s this love, 
and the sense of identity this affection brings, that 
makes the job an addictive lifestyle.

The concept is to bring all three sectors together 
(regulator, research and representative bodies) and 
create an atmosphere whereby there is not only 
mutual understanding but also mutual respect of 
each groups role in driving change and successfully 
delivering both quantifiable and qualitative benefits 
to the people of Western Australia.

“The educational experience
was raw and honest, where 

industry legends spoke 
candidly about their fishing 

experiences (and life lessons) 
to WAFIC and DPIRD staff.”

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL 
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“Don promotes not only 
beautiful Western Australian 

produce but the producers and 
harvesters themselves.”

Seafood and Wine Trail
Discussions commenced in 2018 about a 
seafood and wine trail from Mandurah to Albany. 
The objective of the trail is to support Western 
Australian fishers by providing a platform to 
encourage hospitality businesses to provide 
country-of-origin labelling on their menus. 
The provision of origin labelling would benefit the 
consumer to make informed choices that support 
the Western Australia seafood industry.

The next phase of the trail was a scoping paper to 
consider the following points including:

• Establish logistics to get the trail up and running;

• Investigate the likelihood of provenance labelling 
of seafood on menus;

• Identify restaurants, hotels, takeaways food 
outlets and others to register to be considered as 
part of the trail;

• Ascertain the requirements to revise WAFIC 
website (or create another) and to establish links 
to partner sites;

• Establish the appropriate criteria for restaurants, 
hotels, takeaways, etc., to become a participant 
in the trail;

• Investigate the potential for an ‘app’ to launch as 
the trail guide for seafood and wine lovers;

• Identify seafood suppliers willing to commit to 
the trail and provide quality WA seafood;

• Establish a steering committee to oversee 
the trial;

• Identify funding sources and other resources to 
support the short and long-term aspirations; and

•  Devise a process to decide which wines are best 
with which seafood.

WAFIC is now in the position of reviewing the paper 
presented, prioritising funding and working on the 
best way forward with the resources available which 
may involve a ‘digital’ seafood trail alternative.

WA Seafood Ambassador

WAFIC continues to prioritise and work with our 
WA seafood ambassador Don Hancey to promote 
WA’s seafood industry. The role of the WA seafood 
ambassador is simple – advocate for Western 
Australia’s seafood sector by actively promoting 
the sustainability of our industry, lesser known 
species, and the people – via social media, events 
and media. Don promotes not only beautiful 
Western Australian produce but the producers and 
harvesters themselves – which he has long-standing 
relationships with. Passion is the best word to use 
when describing Don who loves nothing more than 
working with quality local producers to help grow 
their businesses, enhance their opportunities and 
create innovative ways to present, showcase and 
market their produce. He also takes the community 
on a journey promoting the production process from 
ocean to plate and onto the consumer. WAFIC looks 
forward to continuing our relationship with Don 
and evolving the ambassador role to include some 
new faces.

Community Education
WAFIC continues to partner with like-minded 
organisations including Hospitality Group Training 
(HGT) and Australian Professional Skills Institute 
in order to educate hospitality students, and their 
teachers about the value of WA’s sustainable 
seafood industry and career possibilities. This year 
WAFIC again sponsored the ‘Taste of the Future 
Schools Competition’ by supplying South-West 
Bronze Whaler. The competition saw hospitality 
students from WA schools compete against one 
another to win an apprenticeship scholarship. 
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WAFIC 50th
November 29 2018 marked a very special evening for 
the WA Fishing Industry Council. The organisation 
celebrated 5 decades at the East Fremantle Yacht 
Club (EFYC) – which transformed into a magical 
setting for a seafood extravaganza feast based upon 
the concept of a seafood and wine trail. 

The evening was important to recognise where 
it all began for the WA Fishing Industry Council 
which was developed for industry by industry – 
to represent the interests of the fishing, pearling and 
aquaculture sectors. The organisation was originally 
devised by a group of like-minded individuals, 
who recognised that WA’s seafood industry was 
fragmented and needed a united voice capable of 
debating and presenting settled positions on a range 
of issues, including encouraging a legislative and 
policy environment to enable industry to grow. 

WA seafood dishes filled the room and the 250 + 
guests including the Hon. Minister for Fisheries 
– Dave Kelly, former WAFIC Chair (as of 30 
November 2018) – Katie Hodson-Thomas, Fisheries 
Research Development Corporation (FRDC) Chair 
– the Hon. Ron Boswell and former WAFIC Chair of 
26 years – John Cole.

“For many across the world, 
the Western Australian seafood 
industry is regarded as one the 
best for its sustainability and 
clean green environment.”

Festivals and Events
2018 – 19 Highlights 
Events and festivals (including both regional 
and metro) are important for WAFIC staff 
and industry to educate the public about 
WA’s dynamic seafood industry. The Building 
Community Support (BCS) Committee 
continue to prioritise events and festivals 
to humanise the seafood sector and 
break down barriers. They also provide an 
opportunity for the community to ‘get to 
know their local fisher’ and walk away 
with ‘the facts’ about WA’s well-managed 
commercial seafood industry.
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Upon entrance guests were greeted by the smell 
of Weber roasted Fremantle octopus, collecting a 
glass of red wine as they waltzed through the sea 
of decorations including buoys, a Dinghy and nets. 
EFYC waiters danced through the crowd as guests 
stopped them to enjoy a seafood extravaganza with 
dishes including Peel smoked Mullet, grilled Shark 
Bay prawn cutlets, mini fish cakes with Australian 
salmon and tuna and a seafood paella including 
lesser known species. There was also plenty of 
premium WA wine, beer and cider that flowed 
all night.

Formalities included reflecting that 50 years 
of WAFIC is a timely reminder for industry to 
celebrate the achievements of WA’s seafood sector 
from production, research, business, training and 
environmental stewardship. For many across the 
world, the Western Australian seafood industry 
is regarded as one the best for its sustainability 
and clean green environment – something all 
stakeholders should be proud of.

To end formalities, it was the cutting of the cake. 
Former Chair John Cole assisted with the special 
moment with Minister for Fisheries Dave Kelly, Katie 
Hodson-Thomas and John Harrison.

Mandurah Crab Festival
The whole point of this year’s joint WAFIC/ Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) stall at the 2019 
Mandurah Crab Fest was EDUCATION about WA’s 
sustainable seafood industry, lesser known species 
and WA’s fishing families.

On offer to the hungry crowds this year was 
smoked Peel mullet (infused with fennel and lemon 
myrtle) samples created by renown WA food chef 
Don Hancey and Mendolia Seafoods marinated 
sardines. Although staff endured looks of shock 
when community members were offered a sardine 
or mullet tester, it was the sheer appreciation after 
the taste that made it all worth it.

There were questions, comments (a few debates 
here and there) and people wanting to know where 
they can BUY local seafood.

We would like to acknowledge Rikki Hillman, 
a generational, Exmouth beach seine commercial 
fisher and Damien Bell, a Peel-Harvey commercial 
fisher who assisted with the promotion of WA’s 
commercial fishing industry over the weekend. 
It’s this passion and enthusiasm from industry 
members which makes these events worthwhile.
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Parliament House Function

The inaugural 2019 Parliament House Cocktail 
function held during Australian Sustainable Seafood 
Week and hosted by Fisheries Minister the Hon. 
Dave Kelly MLA in conjunction with the WA Fishing 
Industry Council (WAFIC) and the Marine Stewardship 
Council (MSC) was very well received. The evening 
was a great opportunity for our industry members to 
liaise face-to-face with Members of Parliament whilst 
enjoying a wide range of delicious local seafood. 
Discussions included local and state issues and future 
opportunities to grow and develop local businesses.

Thank you to those who were able to attend this year 
and be an integral part of this success. We all greatly 
appreciated your commitment, and, in many cases, 
the distances travelled to get there. Based on positive 
responses, the intention is to make this an annual 
Australian Sustainable Seafood Week event.

As a follow-up to this event, WAFIC encourages 
Members of Parliament to be positive advocates for 
the greater good of the commercial fishing industry 
– which will benefit not only industry, but the broader 
community of WA and its economy.
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Ningaloo Whale Shark Festival 
WAFIC team members once again were proud 
to be a part of this years Ningaloo Whale Shark 
Festival. Working alongside staff from both MG 
Kailis and the Marine Stewardship Council at the 
all-day event, the festival provided an important 
platform to humanise the local seafood industry. 
The event, a significant regional festival, highlights 
the community’s relationship with the yearly 
visitation of the whale shark. Spending time with 
the wider community in Exmouth gives industry 
an opportunity to confirm the shared values in 
fisheries management and the sustainability of WA’s 
seafood sector. 

2018-19 ANNUAL REPORT
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Science for Sustainability 
Public Seminar
WAFIC was proud to co-host a recent 
Department of Primary Industry and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) initiative to showcase 
the science and scientists that underpin the 
sustainable management of WA’s commercial 
and recreational fisheries. Timed during this 
year’s Sustainable Seafood Week, the Science 
for Sustainability public seminar at the State 
Library theatre was attended by close to 100 
interested community members.

The seminar aimed to recognise and promote 
the world-class work science undertaken by 
DPIRD staff, whom without, the successful 
Marine Stewardship Council’s (MSC) 
certification of eight WA fisheries to date 
would not have been possible. Presentations 
from DPIRD fisheries scientists included 
talks by Dr Anthony Hart on abalone in 
a changing climate, Cameron Desfosses 
and Alicia Tate on using innovative tools to 
survey recreational fisheries, and Dr Lynda 
Bellchambers on the importance of 
understanding the broader impacts of fishing 
on the ecosystem.

The public also heard from Rhys Arangio 
about Austral Fisheries impressive 
sustainability journey and MSC’s Matt 
Watson spoke about the role of sustainability 
standards in shaping global best practices 
across Australian fisheries.

WAFIC’s Dr Matt Pember stressed the 
importance of good science in good 
management decisions and highlighted the 
role science communication has in building 
community support for WA’s sustainable 
fishing industry.

WAFIC would like to thank all involved, 
particularly DPIRD staff, co-hosts Recfishwest 
and the MSC for sponsoring the event.

The Albany Festival of the Sea
WAFIC proudly sponsored the 2019 Albany Festival 
of the Sea, but this year the Southern Seafood 
Producers Association took the reins – meeting and 
greeting the local community. This year saw Don 
Nicholls, Executive Officer of the SSPWA, not only 
promote the importance of the local industry but 
play host to filleting demonstrations. Local seafood 
ambassadors Don Hancey and Peter Manifis were 
also there on the day – bringing their exceptional 
seafood culinary skills with them to educate the 
community on the ease of cooking with seafood. 

“Events and festivals are 
important for WAFIC staff 

and industry to educate 
the public about WA’s 

dynamic seafood industry.” 
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2019 WA Seafood Apprentice of the Year Competition
Hospitality apprentices from across Western Australia competed to take out the 
2019 WA Seafood Apprentice Competition. WAFIC hosted the competition for the 
first time this year to recognise the high calibre of work of apprentice chefs in 
kitchens across the state to promote WA seafood.

Finalists:
• 2 Oceans abalone wonton soup by James Staunton 

from Fish Face and Takeaway in Esperance.

• Local champagne crab and celeriac in handmade 
ravioli with fermented butter by Ashleigh Winfield 
from Taylor St Quarters in Esperance.

• MSC certified WA sea mullet ceviche with fish cake, 
Asian style verde and crispy fish skin by Jiann Woei 
Yeo from UMA at the Pan Pacific.

• Sous-vide smoked Fremantle Octopus terrine 
served with chill and lime sambal by Tiharne-Blay 
Bertrand from Latitude 32.

• Crispy skin Albany Garfish by first year apprentice 
Trystin Hart from Fire House in Belmont.

• Geraldton Kingfish Frikadell with Abrolhos half 
shell scallop, served with coconut and chilli foam 
and Thai infused Exmouth prawns by apprentice 
Tom Bennett from Harbour View in Geraldton.

• Fino glazed Fremantle sardines, parsnip 
croquettes, chilli sambal, blistered tomato and 
pickled broccoli stems by Muhammad Mohamed 
from Steve’s Bar and Café in Nedlands.

• Sesame seed crusted tuna with soba noodles by 
apprentice Stewart George-Kennedy from the 
Bayview Bar and Restaurant in Bunbury.

The competition brief was simple and included 
apprentices designing a dish using WA seafood, 
ensuring the dish made it onto their restaurant’s 
menu as a ‘special’ and uploading a photo of 
their dish and menu to their personal preferred 
social media platform (Facebook or Instagram). 
The competition was announced open on the 11 of 
April 2019 and closed on the 31 of May 2019.

Judges had the arduous task of selecting a 
winner from eight outstanding dishes including; 
mouth-watering local Esperance champagne crab 
in handmade ravioli with fermented butter, aromatic 
2 Oceans Abalone wonton soup, charming sous-vide 
smoked Fremantle octopus terrine and delightful 
crispy skin Albany garfish.

The winner for this year’s WA seafood apprentice 
competition was announced as Jiann Woei Yeo 
from Uma at the Pan Pacific Perth. Jiann’s dish 
resonated with our judges because of the utilisation 
of an underutilised species – WA sea mullet. It was 
excellent to see Jiann correctly label the mullet 
as MSC certified and advise that it was caught 
by local Peel Harvey fisher Damien Bell from 
BellBuoy Seafoods.

WAFIC would like to congratulate all apprentices 
on their hard work, dedication and commitment 
for entering the first year of the competition. 
Competitions like this give WAFIC the ability 
to educate the hospitality industry and the 
community about WA’s world-class, sustainable 
seafood industry. It’s great to see the hospitality 
industry getting so involved and supporting our 
WA seafood producers.

Jiann received $250 worth of filleting knives and 
a training session with WA Seafood Ambassador 
Don Hancey at the 2019 State Seafood Awards.
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Abalone Industry Association of WA
The Western Australian Abalone Fishery 
has entered its third year as a Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) certified 
fishery and recently conducted its 
second surveillance audit. 

While the full report has not been published, AIAWA 
(Abalone Industry Association of WA) is of the 
view that it will comply with the requirements for 
continued certification. While the Greenlip stocks 
are still well below traditional quota levels, the Roe 
and Brownlip abalone stock levels are in good health 
after the deviation the 2011 marine heatwave caused. 

Area 3 licence holders attended a two-day workshop 
in June this year to develop a recovery plan for 
the Area 3 fishery. This workshop was funded by 
the Fisheries Research Development Corporation 
(FRDC) and was Chaired by Harry Peeters, Executive 
Officer for the Western Abalone Divers Association 
(WADA) in Victoria. The two-day workshop also had 
special presentations by Duncan Worthington and 
Craig Fox from WADA outlining the strategy utilised 
in the Western Zone in Victoria after the outbreak 
of Abalone Viral Ganglioneuritis (AVG) in 2006. 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 

Development DPIRD (staff) were also invited to 
the workshop which was a success. Area 3 licence 
holders have agreed to implement a similar strategy 
in their zone and will be working with DPRID and 
MSC staff to ensure it falls in line with all their 
requirements. 

The Ngari Marine Parks have come into effect and 
have resulted in a quota reduction of roe’s abalone 
in Area 6 and for greenlip and brownlip abalone in 
Area 3. AIAWA will be working with WAFIC and DPIRD 
during the compensation process to ensure the best 
results are obtained for licence holders in those areas. 

The Ocean Reef Marina has now received 
Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) approval. 
This will now go to parliament as it requires an 
exemption to be built in the Marina park. AIAWA 
members may now have a second chance to request 
to move the Marina or alter it via extension so it 
is not constructed on the large area of productive 
abalone reefs at Ocean Reef. WAFIC’s Guy 
Leyland has been assisting industry through this 
lengthy battle and will continue to assist.

Other key challenges and achievements throughout 
the 18/19 year include:

Sector Body 
Updates

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL 
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• Trialing of a new shark deterrent system on three 
abalone vessels, which will begin this month.

• Abalone Council of Australia hosted the 
Australasian Convention with AIAWA members 
in attendance. Discussion ranged from low 
stock levels of abalone Australia wide to stock 
enhancement. A presentation on sea surface 
temperatures over the last 100 years was also 
provided, with 2011,12 and 13 the hottest on 
record in that time.

• Assisting the Diving Working Group and the 
development of a code of practice for all diving 
work in Western Australia. The Communication 
on Progress (COP) is expected to be released for 
public comment in the coming months.

• AIAWA would like to thank the compliance 
team from DPIRD, prosecuting several abalone 
poachers and operations in the past year. 

• Attending the WAFIC Parliamentary Cocktail 
Function and State Seafood Awards, both events 
were a great opportunity to engage with industry 
stakeholders, DPIRD staff and members from 
local and state government.

• Reviewing and adopting the new Constitution 
for AIAWA, which has been approved by 
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and 
Safety (DMIRS). 

AIAWA is continuing their agreement with the 
SSPWA (Southern Seafood Producers (WA) 
Association) and looks forward to working with 
the organisation and their Executive Officer, 
Don Nicholls into the future. Both organisations are 
well placed, with AIAWA still retaining approximately 
95% of all licence holders as members. 

Arnold Piccoli
Chair – Abalone Industry Association of WA
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Aquaculture Council of WA 
The Aquaculture Council of WA (ACWA) 
provides a representational role 
between industry and the government 
in relation to policy, legislation 
development and specific aquaculture. 

ACWA has dealt with the following issues over the 
past 12 months:

Albany Shellfish Hatchery
ACWA partnered with government in the 
construction of the $2.3 million-dollar Albany 
Shellfish Hatchery based in the Albany Aquaculture 
Park. ACWA assisted the project by the employment 
of a Hatchery expert to provide technical advice to 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) staff on the design and 
construction of the facility. WAFIC has generously 
provided ACWA with funds to employ an Executive 
Officer based in Albany to oversee the Hatchery 
Advisory Committee and to provide technical 
assistance and governance arrangements for the 
Hatchery Operator. 

The Hatchery became fully operational this 
financial year and with the hatcheries biosecurity 
system in place, requests for various species 
of mollusc spat have increased significantly. 
The interest in the hatchery has also increased 
the number of aquaculture operators seeking 
to grow edible shellfish across the State which 
will assist with regional economic growth and 
employment opportunities.

WA Shellfish Quality Assurance 
Program
All shellfish farmers in WA growing edible 
molluscs are required to have their grow out 
sites approved under the WA Shellfish Quality 
Assurance Program (WASQAP), administered by 
the Department of Health under the guidance 
of the Federal Australian Shellfish Quality 
Assurance program. 

The program is complex and expensive for 
current farmers to comply with, and as such, 
ACWA has been negotiating with DPIRD for the 
provision of additional resources to be made 
available to assist industry and the Department 
of Health in the administration of the program.
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On the back of persistent lobbying by ACWA and 
WAFIC, we are pleased to advise that DPIRD have 
provided funding for the development of a Western 
Australia Shellfish Quality Assurance Program 
(WASQAP) Guidance document to assist shellfish 
farmers in the drafting of the various documents 
required under WASQAP to obtain approval by the 
WA Health Department. In addition, Government 
is also considering the employment of a suitably 
qualified scientist to provide technical assistance 
around WASQAP to industry and to act as a 
Liaison Officer between industry and the Health 
Department in managing the requirements of 
the WASQAP.

New Governance Arrangements
At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held in 
November 2018, the ACWA members voted 
unanimously in favour of replacing its current 
Constitution with a new Constitution that brings 
the organisation in line with the Incorporated 
Associations Act 2015, changes the Committee 
of Management to that of a Board and appoints 
Directors to that Board. The new Constitution also 
contains provisions to allow for the establishment 
of a Finance, Risk and Audit Subcommittee, a 
Research and Development Subcommittee and a 
Governance Subcommittee. The Subcommittees 
have been populated and will ensure that the 
organisation is fulfilling its legal governance 
requirements and providing a quality service to 
its members.

ACWA Website
The ACWA website was recently reviewed 
and upgraded to ensure that it has the most 
appropriate and up to date information, is in line 
with the new Constitution and Board of Directors 
and contains quality information for its members 
and the general public.

Tina Thorne
Executive Officer – Aquaculture Council of WA

“WAFIC has generously provided 
ACWA with funds to employ 

an Executive Officer based in 
Albany to oversee the Hatchery 

Advisory Committee…” 
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Pearl Producers Association
It has been another busy year for WA’s 
pearling industry, notwithstanding 
that the transition of the Pearling 
Act into the new Aquatic Resource 
Management Act (ARMA) Framework 
has stalled in anticipation of some 
technical amendments. The pearling 
industry remains poised to continue 
the transition. 

Currently Pearl Producers Association (PPA) 
members are harvesting this year’s pearls. 
The harvest is a busy time of the year for pearl 
producers and includes some of the concurrent 
activities that take place during this time of year 

such as the re-seeding of oysters and transportation 
of seeded oysters to farms. However, it already seems 
that the quality of this year’s harvest in exceptional – 
which is great news for our industry men and women. 

The past 2018-19 year has been busy with Research 
and Development (R&D) engagements including 
the continued development of a pearling industry 
R&D plan and the sampling work for the pearl oyster 
component North-West Shoals to Shore Research 
Programme (NWSSRP) which is driven by the 
Australian institute of Marine Science (AIMS). 

This project saw the exposure of pearl oysters at 
Eighty Mile Beach (the location of the last sustainable 
wild stock pearl oyster fishing ground in the world) 
to seismic energy in a real-world seismic survey 
situation. The purpose of the project is to better 
understand the impact of seismic energy on Pinctada 
maxima pearl oysters and their ecosystem.
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Other key challenges during the past year included 
the maintenance of access to areas declared 
Marine Parks by state and federal governments; 
and continued engagement in the Marine Park 
process with the North West Commonwealth Marine 
Park Committee. 

We also continue to work with Broome hospital 
who houses and co-administers, with the PPA, 
the hyperbaric chamber. Last year saw the 
retirement of the PPA hyperbaric medical physician 
consultant, Dr Robert Wong who had advised the 
pearling industry for almost 30 years. His service 
to pearling was significant and his meticulous work 
ethic and passion is missed.

The year also saw the continuation of our work 
in close partnership with WAFIC, through several 
meetings and projects.

Aaron Irving
Chief Executive Officer – Pearl Producers 
Association

“…it already seems that the 
quality of this year’s harvest 
in exceptional – which is 
great news for our industry 
men and women.” 
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Western Rock Lobster 
Government Policy to Nationalise the 
Western Rock Lobster (WRL) Industry
Late in 2018, the WA government attempted to 
create a 17.3% ownership of the industry in its 
name at zero cost. These State-owned units were 
then intended to compete with the current industry 
in both the sale and lease markets. WRL and a 
newly formed action group, Fishing Families WA, 
successfully ran dual legal, media and political 
campaigns to defeat the government’s intended 
policy. This policy shook one of the world’s best 
managed primary industries which impacted on 
the sector’s confidence and significantly damaged 
the trust and relationship between the industry 
and government. 

Following the six months of chaos and damage 
created by the government’s attempted 
nationalisation policy, WRL has sought to return to 
business as usual. This includes resuming standard 
functions and engagement in order to restore some 
stability, confidence and certainty to industry and 
the way it is managed. 

Property Rights
In July 2019 the Legislative Council of Western 
Australia, under the Standing Committee on Public 
Administration, commenced an inquiry into Private 
Property Rights. In collaboration with WRL, Dr Peter 
Rogers was contracted to research and draft a 
submission on behalf of the western rock lobster 
industry to the Standing Committee inquiry.

WRL’s submission on property rights referenced 
eight key recommendations to the Standing 
Committee along with recommendations and 
proposed “actions” to amend the new Aquatic 
Resource Management Act (ARMA). WRL and WAFIC 
collaborated to refine each of their submissions to 
ensure they were complimentary and addressed the 
seafood industry’s need for resource access rights 
and security. 

Industry Professional Development 
WRL is strongly committed to investing in 
human resource development for our industry. 
In August 2018, WRL launched the DECK Program 
(Development Education Capacity Knowledge). 
The focus of the DECK Program is to deliver quality 
professional development learning to the western 
rock lobster industry. The DECK Program aims to 
provide similar opportunities for the western rock 
lobster industry as are available in comparative 
primary industries such as agriculture.

The first DECK Program was held at the Aquarium 
of Western Australia in Hillarys on the 11th and 12th 
of October 2018. Twenty-six participants travelled 
from across the fishery to attend the program. 
The program also provided a unique opportunity for 
participants to help shape the future of what the 
DECK Program should deliver, ensuring the program 
remains relevant and valuable to their businesses 
and the industry. WRL look forward to hosting the 
second annual DECK Program in Geraldton on the 
14th and 15th of October 2019. 

Industry Partnership Agreement with FRDC
WRL continues to progress it’s two Research and 
Development priorities – ‘Digitising the Western Rock 
Lobster Industry’ and ‘Understanding the Markets’. 
The understanding the markets project currently 
funds a Market Analyst to develop a Maximum 
Economic Yield (MEY) model for the fishery. The MEY 
model will assist with understanding markets and 
the economic factors affecting the rock lobster 
industry both in Western Australia and in its markets. 

New proposals include an agreement with 
Recfishwest to explore new methods to more 
accurately account for recreational catches of 
lobster and two new projects in collaboration with 
UWA – ‘Investigation of the direct and indirect role 
of freshwater discharge and groundwater seeps on 
western rock lobster settlement processes: with 
consideration of the potential role of contaminants’, 
and ‘Predicting the likely impacts throughout 
the western rock lobster fishery of change in 
habitat composition’.

“WRL and WAFIC collaborated to 
refine each of their submissions to 
ensure they were complimentary and 
addressed the seafood industry’s need 
for resource access rights and security.”
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MSC Audit 
The WRL fishery was the first fishery certified under 
the Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) program in 
2000 and the first fishery to be re-certified for the 
fourth time in June 2017. The MSC recertification 
showcases the fishery’s commitment to sustainable 
practices. Third-party accreditation is becoming 
increasingly important in the WRL industry as 
it assists with social licence and differentiates 
products from others on the market. The fishery 
has adapted and evolved to face new and existing 
challenges and demonstrates willingness 
to mitigate against negative environmental 
interactions. Using the MSC Framework, the 
western rock lobster fishery continues to monitor, 
respond and innovate. MSC recommended the 
continued use of the MSC certificate through to the 
next surveillance audit of the fishery in 2020.

Communications – Coastal Tours 
WRL continuously strive to provide effective 
engagement, representation and communications 
to ensure members and stakeholders are informed, 
have the capacity to engage with industry and are 
aware of key issues and activities. 

WRL held coastal tours in December 2018, April 
2019 and September 2019. The meetings allowed 
WRL members, fishers and stakeholders to 
discuss a wide range of industry-related topics. 
Representatives from DPIRD, the banking sector 
and other stakeholders have joined WRL on these 
tours. Their presence allowed members to ask 
questions and network with different stakeholders. 
This collaboration in attendance, presentation and 
responses were beneficial to members and fishers 
so we aim to continue this for future coastal tours.

ICWL 2020
Western Rock Lobster and the Department of 
Primary Industries and Regional Development 
(DPIRD) are pleased to be hosting the 12th 
International Conference and Workshop on Lobster 
Biology and Management (ICWL) in Fremantle, 
Western Australia on 18-23 October 2020.

This lobster workshop returns to where it all began 
in Western Australia over 40 years ago when a group 
of 37 lobster biologists from 6 countries met in 
Perth to discuss and compare their work on lobster 
ecology, physiology and management protocols. 
They were searching for common themes amongst 
the different species that were commercially fished. 
In recent years, participation has risen to around 
150-200 people from 20 countries! The program 
is full of fascinating scientific presentations from 
all around the world. An industry day is also an 
important component of the program, so we are 
looking forward to strong support from lobster 
industry participants.

Changes at WRL
In September 2018, the WRL Board welcomed 
Fedele Camarda as an elected Director following the 
2018 AGM. In February 2019, Kim Colero resigned as 
Chair and Director of WRL following the resignations 
of both Independent Directors Karen Brown and 
Peter Cooke. WRL and the Board welcomed Terry 
Lissiman as the new Chair, vacating the Deputy 
Chair position which was subsequently filled by 
Fedele Camarda. 

Terry Lissiman
Chair – Western Rock Lobster 
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Shark Bay Prawn Trawler 
Operators’ Association
The 2018 Shark Bay Prawn Managed 
Fishery (SBPMF) season ended on 
16 November with a total catch of 
1090 tonne (t) of prawns, 194t of blue 
swimmer crabs and 49t of scallops.

The fishery underwent its third surveillance audit for 
its Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) certification 
in late February and we were pleased to close out 
on all the remaining conditions. Preparations are 
underway for the final audit and re-certification in 
2020. The SBPMF and Exmouth Gulf Trawl Fishery 
will be the first trawl fisheries in Australia to be 
assessed under MSC version 2.0. The SBPTOA 
attended and presented at an MSC workshop held 
in late 2018, to consider the impacts of this revised 
standard on Australia’s MSC certified trawl fisheries.

In 2018/19, the SBPTOA continued to successfully 
implement its new crew programs in keeping 
with its requirements under MSC certification. 
The SBPTOA successfully obtained external 
funding for SBPMF crew to undertake training 
with experienced Northern Prawn Fishery staff. 
It is anticipated that this training will occur in the 
19/20 financial year.

In November 2018, Scallop Nominees resigned 
from the SBPTOA. In January 2019, the Association 
welcomed Ryan Cousins from KB Takari Pty Ltd 
following Ian Ricciardi from Ricciardi Ocean Fresh 
Products’ departure from the SBPMF.

With Sea Harvest and Scallop Nominees no longer 
in the Association, WAFIC initiated a review of sector 
bodies with particular emphasis on reviewing the 
SBPTOA continuing as a sector body. In April, the 
WAFIC Board agreed to continue to recognise the 
SBPTOA as a WAFIC sector body in its current form. 
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A number of representations were made throughout 
the year with regard to a range of resource access 
issues affecting the SBPMF. Those included seeking 
the continuation of access to the area below the 
Snapper Trawl Line (STL) in Shark Bay as part of 
a broad community review. We are pleased that 
ongoing access will be permitted, subject to meeting 
prawn and snapper reference levels. 

The SBPTOA also made representations regarding 
new fisheries developing within Shark Bay including 
proposed spanner crab fishing, following the 
approval of commercial beche-de-mer fishing 
without consultation. The SBPTOA in addition 
made a number of representations towards the 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development’s (DPIRD) independent review of Shark 
Bay’s prawn and scallop fisheries, undertaken by 
Dr Malcolm Haddon. 

In 2018/19, the SBPTOA’s EO continued as a Director 
of the Australian Council of Prawn Fisheries (ACPF). 
The ACPF works closely with the FRDC and research 
providers to focus resources into the Research and 
Development needed to address current priority 
investment areas in Australia’s wild harvest 
prawn fisheries.

Felicity Horn 
Executive Officer – Shark Bay Prawn Trawler 
Operators’ Association
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Southern Seafood Producers (WA) 
Association
Southern Seafood Producers (WA) 
Association (SSP) was formed in the 
first quarter of 2018. 

This was a culmination of significant efforts from an 
Industry Steering Committee, the WA Government 
and the WA Fishing Industry Council (WAFIC).

Nearing the second year of operation, it is fair to 
say it has been a steep learning curve for a young 
organisation. The setting up of the business from 
scratch, in addition to the business processes, 
infrastructure and procedures has been a huge 
undertaking. This year we have moved to add 
capacity to SSP through the employment, initially of 
Basia Littlejohn on a casual basis, and more 
recently employing Alison Bramwell as the full time 
Administration Officer for the Association. 

Having established an operating environment and 
stable membership in 2018, Southern Seafood 
Producers concluded the year by bringing the 
long-running South Coast Wetline Review to a head. 
This has not been popular with all fishers, but it 
does provide some certainty, allowing industry to 
move forward. The absence of a line, separating 
west and east on the South Coast is an issue for 
some. While for other long-term fishers and recent 
entrants, the model used for history has not resulted 
in any allocation. Those that have concerns can 
contact the Association. The resulting new managed 
fisheries are progressing with the drafting of two 

new Management Plans; the South Coast Line and 
Trap Fishery; and the South Coast Inshore Net Fishery, 
drawing on the experience of an SSPWA industry 
Working Group in the drafting process.

2019 heralded the year of the Marine Parks. The start 
of the year was dominated by the Commonwealth 
Marine Parks and the associated “Business Assistance” 
packages that industry could apply for. An SSP 
convened industry meeting identified a single agreed 
priority – a buy-back of the displaced effort within the 
fishery. Unfortunately, this was not funded, leaving 
commercial fishers bewildered. 

The Commonwealth package provided funds for a 
project, comparing longline to demersal gillnet catches. 
Funds were also provided to assist interested parties 
to transition to a longline fishery on the South Coast – 
for industry members that chose to do so. 

In addition, $50,000 funding was provided to SSP to 
undertake a pre-feasibility study on a multi-species 
value-adding facility. This project will commence 
during the latter part of 2019, due to report in the first 
quarter of 2020. The outcomes of which should identify 
priority pathways to assist industry to move away from 
commodity trading of certain species and achieve price 
premiums on some by-products.

The marine parks theme continued with the Ngari 
Capes Marine Parks becoming a reality in April. 
Unfortunately, these parks have been in place 
for six months, with delays in the payment of any 
compensation ongoing. A huge frustration for industry, 
facing reduced catches and operating in a new 
environment with no certainty around finances, despite 
the lost fishing grounds. 

36

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL 



The third marine park pillar, came as part of the 
WA government’s “vision” for increased parks, 
identifying a desire for marine parks on the South 
Coast and metropolitan area. SSP has engaged early 
in the process, trying to minimise the impact on the 
commercial fishing sector. The Association has also 
stressed the importance of adequate and timely 
compensation as a pre-requisite for any planning.

In terms of fishing it has proved to be a mixed bag. 
The Herring G Trap fishery was not opened for 2019, 
despite independent scientists declaring they had no 
concerns about sustainability. The Fisheries Minister 
directed SSP to gain the support of Recfishwest for 
it to be re-opened. Despite these discussions, the 
effort proved unsuccessful. DPIRD comments after 
the season indicated the Department needed to 
know what fish food buyers were going to purchase. 
This information was readily available, had the 
question been asked. In summary, one of the world’s 
most environmentally friendly forms of animal 
protein was lost to human consumption and regional 
economic benefit.

The South Coast also was the scene for a slow 
Australian salmon season, while the South West 
enjoyed a productive year. The relationship and 
interactions with recreational salmon fishers followed 
a similar course. In the South West a great sense of 
camaraderie and assistance between the fishers was 
displayed. While on the South Coast an organised 
Recfishwest event became the subject of social 
media consternation. The scenario served as a timely 
reminder that the commercial fishing sector needs 
to be mindful of ensuring professional standards are 
maintained with workplace Health and Safety on the 
beach the major priority.

The experience in Western Australian fisheries seems 
to have again been forgotten, as environmental 
concerns were raised that are simply not backed by 
the facts. Australian Sea Lion exclusion zones remain 
in place, preventing access of up to 40% of the prime 
shark fishing areas in the South and South West. 
The fact that WA breeding colonies are increasing at a 
rate of 35% in the last three years has been forgotten 
by decision makers. 

In Parliament, a Bill being proposed by the Greens 
regarding the banning of sales of shark fins within 
WA was put forward. This Bill seemed oblivious to 
the operating environment in WA, where sharks must 
be matched to landed bodies, which has protected 
against “shark finning” for years. 

Further unfounded bias against the use of 
demersal gillnets is a concern. All experienced 
professionals will know, this fishing method is far 
more discriminating in target catch than longlines. 
Unfortunately, it appears the Commonwealth 
government wishes to remove this fishing option. 
A method which provides a significant portion of the 
domestic fish with sustainable stocks of gummy and 
other species of shark. 

In addition, the South West Blue Swimmer Crab 
review has been concluded, following DPIRD 
advice that linked the pre-spawned female crabs 
to oceanic fisheries. Concerns about reduction in 
reproduction through handling was seen by DPIRD 
as too much of a risk to continue. The subsequent 
negotiations have resulted in a voluntary Fisheries 
Adjustment Scheme for the Cockburn Sound and 
Warnbro Sound Crab Fisheries and act of grace 
payments for the developing fisheries in Comet Bay 
and Bunbury. The remaining commercial fisheries 
can have increased confidence that the illegal 
take of crabs will be subject to far more rigorous 
compliance regimes. In addition, the data collection 
to accurately assess the recreational take will 
be improved, ensuring the tools are in place for 
long-term sustainability of the stock.

SSPWA has also been coordinating the voice of 
industry into a range of enquiries and reviews, 
ranging from property rights to marine safety and 
future planning of infrastructure.

Please add your membership to your Association. 
We exist to serve your needs but need your 
membership to help make positive changes for the 
WA seafood industry.

Don Nicholls 
Executive Officer – Southern Seafood Producers (WA) 
Association INC.

“$50,000 funding was 
provided to SSP to 

undertake a pre-feasibility 
study on a multi-species 

value-adding facility.” 
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Marine Planning
State
After many years in process state marine parks 
including: Eighty Mile Beach Marine Park; Ngari 
Capes Marine Park; Lalang-garram Marine 
Parks (Horizontal Falls / Camden Sound / 
North Lalang-garram); Yawuru Ngulagan/Roebuck 
Bay Marine Park; North Kimberley Marine Park; 
proposed Buccaneer Archipelago Marine Park; 
and the Montebello Islands Marine Park – are now 
in motion. This is in conjunction with Commonwealth 
marine parks in the South-West and North-West 
of Western Australia which came into effect 
in July 2018.

The Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) advised last year that a 
number of parks would be gazetted soon including 
commercial fishing prohibition zones. It was further 
advised that these zones would not come into effect 
for 12 months from the gazettal date. Eighty Mile 
Beach was gazetted on 6 October 2017 and the 
zones came into effect in October 2018. The Capes 
Park was gazetted in April 2018 and fishing 
prohibitions came into effect on the 10 April 2019. 
The 12-month grace period was to allow any 
compensation claims under the Fishing and 
Related Industries Compensation (Marine Reserves 
Act 1997) (FRICM Act) to be made. WAFIC was 
successful in getting a 3-month extension to the 
deadline for fishers to submit claims however, 
there have been substantial delays in processing 
fishers claims due to the number of claims and 
inability of DPIRD staff to process these. This is not 
satisfactory and WAFIC will continue to work with 
impacted fishers to improve these processes. 

Industry 
Update
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Commonwealth
In March 2018 the Commonwealth Government 
announced the final decision on its Marine Reserve 
Network which came into effect on 1 July 2018. 
It released its proposed guidelines for business 
assistance to affected fishers in August.

Following representations to the Commonwealth 
Government proposed guidelines, WAFIC was 
successful in getting the industry a better deal. 

The revised guidelines included:

• The period of assistance increased from 4 to 5 
years in making assistance calculations;

• Profit assumption increased from 25% to 30%; 

• The minimum payment threshold reduced to 
$100 (from $1000); and

• $5 million was provided in the first round of 
Our Marine Park Grants exclusively to the 
fishing industry.

The business assistance payments have been 
completed.

WAFIC also applied for 5 grants under the Marine 
Park Grants and were successful in 3 of those grant 
applications totalling $1.373 million. 

These are:

• A project to financially assist temperate shark 
fishers’ transition from demersal gill nets to 
demersal longline;

• A research project on the long-term use of 
demersal gill nets and demersal longline in WA’s 
temperate shark fisheries; and

• A pre-feasibility study for a multi-species, value 
adding facility for southern fisheries.

Arrangements for education and compliance 
on the marine park boundaries have yet to be 
bedded down.

“…there have been substantial delays
in processing fishers claims due to
the number of claims and inability of
DPIRD staff to process these.”

“…WAFIC will continue to 
work with impacted fishers 

to improve these processes.”
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Marine Stewardship
The past year has seen the continued rollout 
of the State government’s $14.5million Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) program – a joint 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) and WAFIC initiative 
announced by the Minister for Fisheries in 
September 2012.

The objectives of this initiative are to:

• Enhance public confidence in the sustainable 
management of WA’s commercial fisheries;

• Meet retail need to only serve fish from fisheries 
either independently assessed or in a fishery 
improvement project; and 

• Assess the state’s fisheries against an 
independent and science-based standard.

The initiative subjects all WA fisheries to a MSC 
pre-assessment which determines if a specific 
fishery can successfully pass a full MSC assessment.

Confidential pre-assessment reports allow those 
fisheries that don’t meet the necessary benchmark 
to undertake a fisheries improvement program 
(FIP). FIPs are a voluntary and transparent way 
of helping fisheries improve their sustainable 
management practices. 

A policy is being developed to enable fisheries to 
enter into FIPs.

Government funding is made available for those 
fisheries identified as ready to enter full MSC 
assessment through a voluntary process. In addition, 
the state also pays the costs of the first annual audit 
of the fishery following MSC certification.

Carriage of the project is through a Certification 
Advisory Panel made up of Department of Fisheries, 
WAFIC, Recfishwest and MSC representatives. 

The Fisheries Research Development Corporation 
(FRDC) has funded a WAFIC project to develop 
extension and chain of custody initiatives through the 
supply chain.

The MSC has appointed Matt Watson as its WA based 
outreach officer. Matt is responsible for raising 
awareness and support for the MSC program across 
a broad range of interest groups including the supply 
chain and the community. 

The website www.wamsc.com.au, funded by a 
FRDC grant, provides detailed information about 
the MSC initiative designed to enhance industry 
communication and community engagement.

2018/19 was highlighted by a number of key 
activities including:

• Meetings convened with various fisheries 
to determine interest in proceeding to 
full assessment;

• Exmouth Gulf Endeavour Prawn fishery 
underwent assessment and was subsequently 
certified;

• The Beche de Mer fishery is currently undergoing 
assessment as a test case against a proposed 
expedited process designed to speed up 
assessment timelines and reduce costs;

• The Interim Managed Octopus Fishery entered 
into MSC assessment and held a site visit with 
the assessors in October. The fishery is close 
to certification;

• Participation in a 2-day workshop with MSC 
and certified fisheries from WA, Northern 
Territory and South Australia on the version 2 
MSC standard and its new requirements which 
recertifying fisheries will be subject to;

• Abalone held its annual audit in October;

• Shark Bay and Exmouth Prawn fisheries held 
their annual audits on 25 February;

• Attendance at the Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) for Sustainable Fisheries Association and 
associated meetings in Brussels during April; and

• MSC/WAFIC commissioned CSIRO to undertake 
a cost benefit analysis of WA certified fisheries. 
The results are pending.

Guy Leyland  
WAFIC-MSC Industry Project Leader
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“….giving WAFIC a strong and loud voice 
on behalf of our industry regarding 

offshore issues. We are an integral part 
of the solution moving forward.”

Other priorities identified and added to the project 
include agreed consultation guidelines (working 
very closely with APPEA) and developing fishery 
profiles for each state and commonwealth managed 
fishery around Australia. These profiles ensure oil, 
gas and seismic proponents can accurately identify 
when a fishery and its key resource is a relevant, 
and potentially impacted party, to any offshore 
activities. This will reduce the blanket “one size 
fits nobody” style consultation and assist to reduce 
overall stakeholder fatigue.

WAFIC is continuing to develop its commercial arm 
offering fee-for-service consultation, representing 
commercial fishers for oil and gas and other 
engagements. As the Western Australian oil and 
gas industry ages, WAFIC is also part of the process 
regarding future decommissioning activities.

Mannie Shea
Executive Officer Resource Access – Oil and Gas

Resource Access – Oil and Gas
The pressure of ongoing oil, gas and seismic 
activity on the commercial fishing industry is best 
illustrated by the National Offshore Petroleum Titles 
Administrator (NOPTA) map (right). The significant 
number and size of offshore permits overlapping key 
commercial fishing areas and the resultant resource 
sharing issues are very challenging to our industry.

Regulatory required stakeholder consultation for 
activities within each offshore permit continues 
to put a strain on fisher and WAFIC resources. 
Additionally, stakeholder engagement fatigue has 
not subsided and is very real.

WAFIC is working closely with commercial 
fishing licence holders in the offshore exploration 
zone, the Australian Petroleum Production and 
Exploration Association (APPEA), the National 
Offshore Petroleum Safety and Environmental 
Management Authority (NOPSEMA) and is 
a represented on NOPSEMA’s Community 
Engagement Reference Group (CERG) giving WAFIC 
a strong and loud voice on behalf of our industry 
regarding offshore issues. We are an integral part of 
the solution moving forward.

In addition, WAFIC was “at the table” during 
NOPSEMA’S crucial transparency review. 
The outcome of this process is the requirement for 
all proponents to release a full copy of their final 
draft environment plan for public review and input.

WAFIC’s Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) funded project is progressing. 
Initial emphasis was on securing and developing 
a seismic library of published research papers. 

Source: National Offshore Petroleum Titles Administrator 
(NOPTA) www.nopta.gov.au/maps-and-public-data/
interactive-map.html
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Research Opportunities - WA Research Advisory Committee (WARAC)

The Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) supports a network of 
Research Advisory Committees (RACs) located in 
each state and the Northern Territory. The RACs 
have an extremely important role in maximising 
the efficiency of the FRDC’s planning and funding 
process.

The WARAC was established in July 2016 and 
membership covers a range of people with 
experience across the vast sectors of our industry. 
The WARAC developed a strategic WA Research 
and Development (R&D) plan listing goals and 
research priorities for the WA fishing, pearling and 
aquaculture industries. 

The WARAC seeks industry R&D priorities through 
sector bodies or annual fishery management 
meetings to ensure it is responsive to the R&D 
needs of stakeholders within WA. The WARAC 

ensures that priorities are balanced across the 
programs of the FRDC (Research, Development and 
Extension) RD&E plan and contain a mix of basic and 
applied R&D.

The role of the WARAC is to maintain a strategic 
direction and be responsive to changing 
circumstances as well as setting R&D priorities to 
maximise the opportunities of investment to meet 
identified priorities, avoid duplication and achieve 
the greatest potential return.

There are three (3) calls made throughout the year 
inviting R&D project applications from stakeholders 
to address identified WA priorities. The WARAC 
assesses project expressions of interest against 
priorities in the R&D Plan and provides project 
investment advice to the FRDC Board against 
a defined budget. The investment pool was 
approximately $1.445 million for 2018/19. 
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There are currently 38 projects underway that 
have been approved under the WARAC funding 
pool including:

• FRDC has invested in many projects, 
following the 2011 main heatwave, to assist 
in understanding the impacts of changing 
environments of the productivity of fisheries such 
as abalone, Exmouth Gulf, West Cost Snapper 
and Shark Bay. 

• FRDC supports the project of increasing 
production and value of Yellowtail kingfish 
aquaculture in warm water through 
improvements in feeds and disease resistance. 

• FRDC is assisting the Northern Cooperative 
Research Centre (CRC) investment into 
expanding Tropical Rock Oyster development.

Every dollar that the WA industry provides to FRDC – 
generates around $3.07 in investment back into the 
state through priority relevant projects.

The WARAC participates in the FRDC Annual 
Planning Workshop to promote collaboration 
between researchers, fisheries managers and 
fishing industry interests, among other state 
jurisdictions and considers other R&D funding 
opportunities outside FRDC.

Industry Partnership Agreements (IPAs) are 
between the FRDC and a sector body to manage 
a suite of sectoral projects over a specified time 
period against an agreed industry strategic plan. 
The priorities and projects selected are generally 
identified by the industry body and are specific to its 
needs. Current IPAs affecting WA industry sectors 
include western rock lobster (WRL), pearls, abalone 
and prawns.

Some IPAs manage the entire FRDC contribution 
for that particular sector (e.g. WRL), whilst 
others manage part of their contribution within 
the IPA (prawns) and leave part of the sector’s 
contribution for management within the RAC for 
jurisdictional expenditure.

WAFIC is the most active industry council in which 
the FRDC invests. The FRDC has a number of 
projects with WAFIC. Two of which relate to WAFIC 
offering national co-ordination and leadership to 
issues of strategic importance to the fishing industry 
(2017-194: SeSAFE – delivering industry safety 
through electronic learning, 2017-186: Oil and Gas: 
National coordination – seismic and other issues).

The process of delivering the FRDC’s 2020-25 RD&E 
Plan has started and will continue throughout 2019. 
FRDC will be conducting an extensive consultative 
process over coming months. The process will 
be designed to provoke thought and feedback on 
possible future states of fishing and aquaculture 
in Australia; activities to respond to key internal 
and external driving forces; and review systems, 
investment frameworks and processes to improve 
efficiency in delivery of outputs through investment 
in RD&E.

For more information: 
www.frdc.com.au/sitecore/content/frdc/partners/
research-advisory-committees/wa-rac

Brett McCallum
WARAC Chair

Nicole Stubing
WARAC Manager

“Every dollar that the WA 
industry provides to FRDC 
– generates around $3.07 

in investment back into 
the state through priority 

relevant projects.”
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Industry Consultation Unit (ICU) Update
The Industry Consultation Unit (ICU) was created 
in 2011 – marking 8 years since its inception. 
During this period the ICU has successfully 
undertaken consultation services as a third-party 
provider for the government through a Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) between WAFIC and the 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD).

The concept of WAFIC providing consultation 
services under an SLA was first discussed by the 
then WAFIC Board (headed by Chair – Kim Colero 
and Chief Executive Officer – Guy Leyland) in 2011. 
Sector body support was contingent on the basis 
there was to be a clear delineation between the 
consultation role and WAFIC’s representational role.

As a result of this condition, it was agreed WAFIC 
would provide office accommodation and certain 
administration functions on a fee for service basis 
to avoid any duplication of costs. In addition, and to 
further enhance the independence of the business 
unit, an advisory group body was established. 
The group, headed by an Independent Chairperson 
with representatives of both the department 
and WAFIC, oversaw the governance of the unit 
– ensuring key deliverables and milestones, in 
terms of consultation between the government and 
authorisation holders, were achieved.

Eight years on from 2011 and the SLA and the 
supporting business unit, the “Industry Consultation 
Unit”, has successfully achieved all key performance 
indicators and more importantly both industry and 
the department have acknowledged the agreement 
has been effective by renewing it in 2015, and again 
in 2018.

The success of this initiative is largely due to the 
very transparent delineation between WAFIC’s 
role as the peak representational body in WA and 
providing administrative services to support a 
separate business unit independent of WAFIC.

During the 2018/19 year the ICU facilitated 22 
Fisheries Management Meetings. These were 
predominantly held in Perth with meetings held 
also in Albany, Esperance, Kununurra, Geraldton, 
Dongara, Denham and Broome. The ICU was also 
involved in undertaking four individual statutory 
consultations to amend various management plans 
throughout the past year.

In addition, the ICU facilitated twelve Specific 
Purpose Consultation (SPC) meetings in Perth and 
in various regional areas.

The department tasked the ICU with facilitating 
several working groups, the most prominent being 
the South Coast Line and Net Fishery and the Near 
Coast Beach Seine Net Fishery.

These particular fisheries remain the last remaining 
fisheries to enter into formal management 
arrangements, a highly successful process which 
commenced in 1963 with the establishment 
of the Western Rock Lobster Limited Entry 
Managed Fishery.

Throughout 2018/19, Management Meetings have 
been dominated by discussion on both State and 
Commonwealth Marine Parks, Sea Lion Exclusion 
Areas and the transition to the new Aquatic 
Resource Management Act. These discussions have 
been extremely challenging for licence holders 
as they grapple with both an understanding of the 
issues and the impact on their operations.
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Of note and raised by many commercial operator 
attendees at Management Meetings, is the issue 
associated with the increase in recreational fishing 
effort due to the greater use of new and more 
sophisticated technology. Licence holders note 
whilst the department do undertake an estimate 
of recreational effort via boat ramp surveys this 
arguably does not compare with the highly accurate 
information commercial operators are required to 
provide through their regulated catch and effort and 
logbook returns. 

Commercial Catch and Effort data and the extremely 
valuable exchange of information through forums 
such as annual management meetings are 
considered essential for the department in terms 
of research modelling and policy setting for the 
overall management of the Western Australian 
marine environment.

The past year the ICU has again enjoyed the 
services of Basia Littlejohn in her role as executive 
assistant with the Unit. Basia is now well-known 
and respected amongst license holders across the 
State and continues to provide excellent service 
supporting the consultation function. Basia has 
developed a wealth of knowledge and experience 
over the past two years, which adds enormous value 
to both meetings and licence holders she engages 
with during these gatherings.

Angus Callander 
ICU Executive Officer

“Over the 8 years, the SLA and 
ICU have met all key performance 

indicators and more importantly have 
been well received by both industry 

and the government.”
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Safety and Training
Marine safety in Australia is now under the control of 
a single jurisdiction – the Australian Maritime Safety 
Authority (AMSA) since the organisation took over full 
responsibility on 1st July 2018.

The past 12 months has seen the bedding down 
of the transition of management of marine safety 
away from the Department of Transport (WA) 
to AMSA. This change is the outcome from a 
whole-of-government approach to harmonise 
transport activities across Australia to reduce red 
tape and cost and improve safety.

The AMSA policy and regulation approach is 
focused on ‘trust and verify’ which places greater 
responsibility on the vessel owner and operators 
(skipper and crew) to manage safety on a vessel. 
Those demonstrating consistent safe vessel 
operations will be rewarded with a reduced regulatory 
compliance (e.g. surveys) resulting in reduced red 
tape and cost to the vessel. 

This approach recognises safety and training needs to 
be specific to each and every individual fishing vessel 
or aquaculture operation. One size does not fit all. 
It also fits neatly alongside the separate workplace 
safety legislative requirements applying to a vessel 
that requires owners and operators to identify 
hazards, measure the risk and then mitigate that risk 
through active measures such as training, drills and 
formal safety management measures.

WAFIC focuses resources on communicating to the 
fishing and aquaculture industry how to access the 
necessary information, guidelines, support expertise 
and legislative requirements to enable owners and 
operators (skippers and crew) to understand and 
apply the government safety and health information 
to fit their specific vessel operations.

WAFIC actively participates in government 
consultation processes on marine safety and 
workplace safety matters to ensure the WA fishing 
industry interests are clearly enunciated and 
understood by authorities.

WAFIC communicates to industry on both marine safety 
and workplace safety as follows:

• Updates of issues of relevance to industry are 
published in WAFIC’s monthly newsletter; 

•  Latest news and important links are regularly 
updated on the WAFIC website;

• Analysis of government proposals, consultation with 
industry and development of submissions on behalf 
of the WA fishing industry;

• Fishing industry sector body groups are regularly 
informed and requested to provide targeted 
comments for inclusion in submissions;

• Direct email to members is carried out on matters 
of significance;

• Co-ordination between various government 
agencies and industry, including attending sector 
body meetings, port visits and annual fishery 
management meetings.

WAFIC is additionally, actively involved in high-level 
discussions on this management change with direct 
representation on two AMSA national advisory groups:

• Domestic Commercial Vessel Industry 
Advisory Committee;

• Fishing Industry Advisory Committee.

WAFIC is also a member of the WA AMSA industry 
advisory committee

The introduction private accredited surveyors 
to complete vessel surveys appears to be now 
bearing fruit with several fleet operators arranging 
‘bulk lot’ surveys at significantly reduced costs. 
Single owner operators are finding greater flexibility 
in arranging surveys. The WA government no longer 
provide surveyors.

From 1st July 2016, all vessels were required by law 
to have on-board a Safety Management System (SMS) 
specifically designed for their vessel operations. 
An SMS must demonstrate the owner/operator has 
completed a process of hazard identification, risk 
assessment and an applied management approach to 
reduce the identified risks through training all crew 
in vessel operations and emergency procedures. 
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WAFIC has been providing industry with continuous 
directions to access SMS guidelines, templates and 
appropriate expertise to assist in developing individual 
vessel SMS plans. 

AMSA have recently carried out a series of educational 
workshops to assist industry to better prepare their 
SMS for their specific vessel.

Failure to hold a current SMS on-board a vessel and 
demonstrate active application of the SMS processes 
and practice of emergency procedures may result in 
the vessel being banned from going to sea.

WAFIC has participated strongly in the AMSA review 
of qualifications arrangements for skippers and 
engineers’ tickets in Marine Order 505 of the new 
marine safety legislation. AMSA released a public 
consultation paper in August 2019. WAFIC has 
assisted industry to respond.

Stability assessment of fishing vessels remains a 
‘current’ topic with release of coronial findings for 
three prawn trawler fatalities. Under the new national 
marine safety laws [National Standard for Commercial 
Vessels (NSCV)] it is a requirement that the ‘vessel 
stability documentation’ is on-board at all times. 
Stability documentation must reflect the current 
configuration of the vessel and be consistent with the 
class and operation of the vessel. 

WAFIC remains intimately involved in the campaign 
to sustain Federal and state government transition 
funding for industry totalling $112.4 million and 
then the on-going application of costs recovery. 
This transition funding means no levy will be charged 
to industry for the first three years of service delivery 
under AMSA 2018/19 – 2020/21. 

During this period AMSA has committed to 
engage with industry on a range of important 
matters including:

• the most efficient and effective ways to deliver 
services to industry;

• opportunities to reduce costs to industry without 
compromising safety; and,

• ways to reduce administrative burden so industry 
can get on with the job.

WAFIC coordinated the WA fishing industry response 
to the proposal for mandatory fitting of ‘float-free 
EPIRBs’ on all vessels by 2020. The overwhelming 
response from industry was support for the measure 
but for a transition period to allow operators to 
phase out old EPIRBs at the end of their useful 
life. This consultation has included alternative 
arrangements for vessels less than 7.5 metres. 

Based on strong industry advocacy – AMSA 
introduced a new survey regime that allows vessels 
with a good safety history, strong maintenance 
programme and consistent survey outcomes to 
receive substantially longer survey expiry dates thus 
saving time and cost of ceasing fishing, slipping 
vessels and surveyor costs. Those demonstrating 
poor history will remain on a tight schedule until they 
improve. Under costs recovery this should provide an 
incentive for operators to take greater responsibility 
for safety management on their vessels.

WAFIC has continued a ‘watching brief’ on the 
introduction of the new WA Occupational Health 
and Safety legislation and has made several 
submissions. The state government has just released 
a consultation draft for industry consideration.

WAFIC continues to represent industry on a diving 
review working group established by Commission 
of Safety and Health (WA). This review will include 
the pearling, abalone and aquaculture industries 
and be asked to consider the necessity for a formal 
set of guidelines to be included in regulations. 
WAFIC continues to push the industry argument that 
‘one size does not fit all’ and that diving systems need 
to be very specific to each fishery. Industry is seeking 
an outcome whereby government provides guidelines 
on minimum dive requirements that can then be 
applied to specific codes of practice for the specific 
pearling, fishing or aquaculture industry.

Many thanks to Chris Battel, WA AMSA Liaison Officer 
for his tireless consultation efforts.

Brett McCallum 
Bresal Consulting 
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SeSAFE 
Project SeSAFE goes from Strength 
to Strength
The SeSAFE project, designed to provide safety 
training to Australia’s fishing and aquaculture 
industries, has now provided training to almost 
150 fishers around the country with many 
more poised to receive similar information in 
coming months. WAFIC’s role in managing this 
important project extends to Chairing the project 
steering committee. 

This training involves industry members, either 
in a group setting or independently, viewing up to 
24 4-minute-long online safety modules each – 
before answering questions related to each module. 
These modules cover a range of topics including 
emergency response, workplace health and safety 
law, risk assessment and personal and operational 
safety. Answers provided by each fisher serves to 
demonstrate their understanding of module content 
and contributes to duty of care requirements by the 
boat owner or skipper. 

The first fishing company to use the modules on 
a regular basis was Darwin-based Australia Bay 
Seafoods. This company has several large fish 
trawlers operating in northern waters for several 
weeks at a time, with deck crew including individuals 
from Indonesia. The company decided the entire crew 

of each trawler, including the skipper and engineer, 
had an opportunity to participate in safety at sea 
training in between fishing trips. SeSAFE provided 
the modules and the company arranged for the 
entire crew on each trawler to view and answer set 
questions via their own logbook. 

Feedback from these crew members has been highly 
positive. They appreciated the quality of content, 
enjoyed the opportunity to talk about safety matters 
on their boat, and they appreciated that training was 
completed in a matter of hours, leaving them free 
to focus on other things. The skippers have noted 
that this approach provides everyone the same level 
of basic training which they can then build on with 
their own inductions and drills. It allows them to be 
confident that their crew have completed basic safety 
training before leaving port. 

Other fishing companies have similarly embraced this 
form of training, including Western Australian-based 
companies, Austfish Pty Ltd, Sea Harvest Pty Ltd 
(previously known as Mareterram Ltd), and M.G. Kailis 
Group. Other companies that have engaged in this 
training includes Paspaley Pearls in the Northern 
Territory and Tony’s Tuna International in South 
Australia, as well as several smaller companies or 
owner-operators around Australia. Training of fishers 
in the Western Rock Lobster fishery, East Coast 
Prawn, and the East Coast Tuna and Billfish fishery is 
also planned in the future.
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“The ultimate objective of SeSAFE is an enduring safety training 
program that extends well beyond the initial funding period.”

In most cases SeSAFE provides training to fishers 
in a group setting, prior to the fishing season or 
between fishing trips, but the program also allows 
training for individuals or crews mid-season 
where they are often based in remote locations. 
Recently SeSAFE provided training to two crew in 
the Philippines prior to them flying to Australia to 
join M.G. Kailis, as well as to other crew spread 
around the country. This option is ideal to train new, 
inexperienced crew that are required to join a boat 
with short notice, particularly if required to complete 
only a small number of modules. 

Collectively these training options provide a flexible 
and accommodating approach to safety at sea 
training, and feedback from crews, skippers, and 
boat owners is universally positive. Many skippers 
and boat owners are now considering it a permanent 
contribution to their crew safety training program 
and intend requiring modules to be completed 
annually. Interestingly, calls for a certificate of 
completion or other formal recognition is also 
increasing, and this will be a focus of future project 
activity. Recently, the Western Rock Lobster Council 

and the Australian Council of Prawn Fisheries 
tasked SeSAFE with the production of multiple, 
fishery-specific modules, including safe handling of 
fishing gear and catch.

The ultimate objective of SeSAFE is an enduring 
safety training program that extends well beyond 
the initial funding period. Consideration is now being 
given to a user-pays approach to safety training, 
common in many other industries including mining, 
farming, and construction. This may include an 
online portal whereby fishers register for training, 
pay a fee, and receive access to multiple training 
modules. This approach can be tailored by any boat 
owner or skipper to provide one-off or refresher 
training on an annual basis, and delivery of one or 
more modules of choice. This approach also lends 
itself to the provision of a certificate of completion to 
fishers completing a suite of modules. 

Further details on the SeSAFE project can be found 
on the website, www.sesafe.com.au.

Steve Eayrs 
Project Manager – SeSAFE
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

NOTE

2019

$

2018

$

INCOME

INCOME FROM GVP 2,504,442 2,315,188

WATER LEASE FEE 50,000 50,000

INTEREST RECEIVED 51,352 51,122

MEMBER SUBSCRIPTIONS 20,100 16,200

OTHER INCOME 66,198 88,972

OTHER TRADING REVENUE 175 1,253

PROJECT MANAGEMENT FEES 98,276 106,379

REIMBURSEMENTS 41,153 56,324

2,831,696 2,685,438

EXPENDITURE

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE 28,748 37,583

EMPLOYMENT EXPENSES 1,181,350 1,006,012

LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 28,749 -

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 5 380,576 404,398

RENTAL EXPENSE 144,235 136,816

SECTOR BODY PAYMENTS 6 1,038,565 935,645

2,802,223 2,520,454

WAFIC CURRENT YEAR SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) 29,473 164,984

PROJECTS

PROJECTS (NET) 3 196,693 191,171

SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) BEFORE INCOME TAX 226,166 356,155

INCOME TAX EXPENSE - -

CURRENT YEAR SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) AFTER INCOME TAX 226,166 356,155

RETAINED PROFIT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1,450,267 1,094,112

ADD: PROJECT RESERVE 10 268,450 569,582

ADD: INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVE 11 137,136 101,294

RETAINED PROFITS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2,082,019 2,121,143

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

NOTE

2019

$

2018

$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7 2,305,077 2,391,545

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 8 124,984 130,274

PREPAYMENTS (INSURANCE) 11,496 9,747

ACCRUED INCOME 15,250 1,175

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,456,807 2,532,741

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE AND MOTOR VEHICLES 9 85,188 124,611

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 85,188 124,611

TOTAL ASSETS 2,541,995 2,657,352

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 82,602 67,857

CURRENT PROJECT LIABILITIES - 5,375

OTHER PROVISIONS 10 283,000 357,500

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 62,460 70,021

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 428,062 500,753

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 31,914 35,456

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 31,914 35,456

TOTAL LIABILITIES 459,976 536,209

NET ASSETS 2,082,019 2,121,143

MEMBERS' FUNDS

INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVES 11 137,135 101,294

PROJECT RESERVE 10 268,450 569,582

RETAINED SURPLUS 1,676,434 1,450,267

TOTAL MEMBERS' FUND 2,082,019 2,121,143

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

Statement of Financial Position
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

NOTE

RETAINED
EARNINGS

$

RESERVES

$

2019

TOTAL

$

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2018 1,450,267 670,876 2,121,143

SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) FOR THE YEAR 226,166 - 226,166

MOVEMENT IN: PROJECT RESERVES 10 - (301,132) (301,132)

MOVEMENT IN: INDUSTRY CORPORATE
DEVELOPMENT RESERVES - 35,842 35,842

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2019 1,676,433 405,586 2,082,019

NOTE

RETAINED
EARNINGS

$

RESERVES

$

2018

TOTAL

$

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2017 1,094,112 - 1,094,112

SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) FOR THE YEAR 356,155 - 356,155

MOVEMENT IN: PROJECT RESERVES 10 - 569,582 569,582

MOVEMENT IN: INDUSTRY CORPORATE
DEVELOPMENT RESERVES - 101,294 101,294

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018 1,450,267 670,876 2,121,143

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

Statement of Changes in Equity

53

2018-19 ANNUAL REPORT – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

NOTE

2019

$

2018

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

RECEIPTS FROM CUSTOMERS 2,824,355 2,654,578

PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES (2,684,955) (2,498,068)

PROJECT SURPLUS (275,465) (240,323)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13 (136,065) (83,813)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

PROCEEDS FROM SALE OF PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 61,798 -

PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (12,201) (2,988)

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 49,597 (2,988)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD (86,468) (86,801)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,391,545 2,478,346

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 7 2,305,077 2,391,545

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

Statement of Cash Flows
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COVER WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. AS AN
INDIVIDUAL ENTITY. WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. IS A NOT-FOR-PROFIT
ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA UNDER THE ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION ACT
(WA) 2015 ('THE ACT').

THE FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY
COUNCIL INC. IS AUSTRALIAN DOLLARS.

COMPARATIVES ARE CONSISTENT WITH PRIOR YEARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

IN THE OPINION OF THE BOARD, THE ASSOCIATION IS NOT A REPORTING ENTITY SINCE THERE ARE
UNLIKELY TO EXIST USERS OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT WHO ARE NOT ABLE TO COMMAND THE
PREPARATION OF REPORTS TAILORED SO AS TO SATISFY SPECIFICALLY ALL OF THEIR INFORMATION
NEEDS. THESE SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN PREPARED TO MEET THE
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RECOGNITION AND
MEASUREMENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND ACCOUNTING
INTERPRETATIONS, AND THE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF AASB 101 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS, AASB 107 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, AASB 108 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS AND AASB 1054 AUSTRALIAN ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A) INCOME TAX

THE ASSOCIATION IS EXEMPT FROM INCOME TAX UNDER DIVISION 50 OF THE INCOME TAX ASSESSMENT
ACT 1997.

(B) REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

REVENUE IS RECOGNISED WHEN THE AMOUNT OF THE REVENUE CAN BE MEASURED RELIABLY, IT IS
PROBABLE THAT ECONOMIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATED WITH THE TRANSACTION WILL FLOW TO THE
ASSOCIATION AND SPECIFIC CRITERIA RELATING TO THE TYPE OF REVENUE AS NOTED BELOW, HAS BEEN
SATISFIED.

REVENUE IS MEASURED AT THE FAIR VALUE OF THE CONSIDERATION RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE AND IS
PRESENTED NET OF RETURNS, DISCOUNTS AND REBATES.

ALL REVENUE IS STATED NET OF THE AMOUNT OF GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST). 

SUBSCRIPTIONS

REVENUE FROM THE PROVISION OF MEMBERSHIP SUBSCRIPTIONS IS RECOGNISED ON A STRAIGHT LINE
BASIS OVER THE FINANCIAL YEAR.

OTHER INCOME

OTHER INCOME IS RECOGNISED ON AN ACCRUALS BASIS WHEN THE ASSOCIATION IS ENTITLED TO IT.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(C) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

REVENUES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS ARE RECOGNISED NET OF THE AMOUNT OF GST, EXCEPT WHERE
THE AMOUNT OF GST INCURRED IS NOT RECOVERABLE FROM THE AUSTRALIAN TAX OFFICE. IN THESE
CIRCUMSTANCES, THE GST IS RECOGNISED AS PART OF THE COST OF ACQUISITION OF THE ASSET OR AS
PART OF AN ITEM OF THE EXPENSE. RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION ARE SHOWN INCLUSIVE OF GST.

(D) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EACH CLASS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT IS CARRIED AT COST OR FAIR VALUE LESS, WHERE
APPLICABLE, ANY ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT.

ITEMS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ACQUIRED FOR NIL OR NOMINAL CONSIDERATION HAVE
BEEN RECORDED AT THE ACQUISITION DATE FAIR VALUE.

DEPRECIATION

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, IS DEPRECIATED ON A STRAIGHT-LINE BASIS OVER THE ASSETS
USEFUL LIFE TO THE ASSOCIATION, COMMENCING WHEN THE ASSET IS READY FOR USE.

(E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISES CASH ON HAND, DEMAND DEPOSITS AND SHORT-TERM
INVESTMENTS WHICH ARE READILY CONVERTIBLE TO KNOWN AMOUNTS OF CASH AND WHICH ARE
SUBJECT TO AN INSIGNIFICANT RISK OF CHANGE IN VALUE.

(F) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PROVISION IS MADE FOR THE ASSOCIATION'S LIABILITY FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ARISING FROM
SERVICES RENDERED BY EMPLOYEES TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
THAT ARE EXPECTED TO BE WHOLLY SETTLED WITHIN ONE YEAR HAVE BEEN MEASURED AT THE
AMOUNTS EXPECTED TO BE PAID WHEN THE LIABILITY IS SETTLED.

3 PROJECTS (NET)

2019

$

2018

$

- PROJECT RECEIPTS 60,690 84,709

- PROJECT PAYMENTS (362,416) (265,162)

- PROVISIONS FOR PROJECT EXPENSE - CURRENT 233,128 16,826

- PROVISIONS FOR PROJECT EXPENSE - NON-CURRENT 265,291 354,798

TOTAL PROJECT SURPLUS 196,693 191,171

PROJECT TRANSACTIONS HAVE BEEN GROUPED TOGETHER AND CONSOLIDATED INTO TOTAL PROJECT
RECEIPTS AND PROJECT PAYMENTS. IF MEMBERS WISH TO HAVE A COPY OF THE INDIVIDUAL PROJECT
PAYMENTS AND RECEIPTS, THEY ARE AVAILABLE ON REQUEST.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

4 EXCLUDED PROJECTS

THE ASSOCIATION MANAGES CERTAIN PROJECTS ON BEHALF OF OTHER ENTITIES. THESE ARE
CONSIDERED EXTERNAL TO THE OPERATIONS OF WAFIC AND ALL TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
RELATING TO THESE ARE EXCLUDED FROM THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

THE ASSOCIATION IS THE CUSTODIAN OF $1,554,862 IN RELATION TO THESE PROJECTS.

5 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES BREAKDOWN

2019

$

2018

$

ACCOUNTING FEES 766 782

ADVERTISING 1,721 1,205

AUDIT FEES 13,650 13,650

BANK FEES 1,464 1,959

COMPUTER MAINTENANCE 19,357 32,091

CONSULTANTS 28,936 35,402

FREMANTLE OFFICE

- CLEANING 10,815 10,422

- COUNCIL RATES 13,800 13,598

- ELECTRICITY 9,112 12,903

- EQUIPMENT 1,533 4,508

- LAND TAX 24,740 24,740

- OFFICE OPERATIONS 78,599 89,259

- REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 904 312

- WATER RATES 2,987 2,695

INSURANCES 15,999 13,575

LEGAL EXPENSES 28,317 5,550

MEETING 39,055 49,747

MEMBERSHIPS 13,786 17,585

MOTOR VEHICLES 7,680 7,813

TELEPHONE, FAX & INTERNET 16,521 17,810

TRAVELING EXPENSES 50,834 48,792

TOTAL OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES BREAKDOWN 380,576 404,398
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

6 ALLOCATION TO SECTOR BODY PAYMENTS

2019

$

2018

$

ABALONE INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF WA 13,044 13,531

AQUACULTURE COUNCIL OF WA 60,000 60,000

PEARL PRODUCERS ASSOCIATION 57,737 57,284

SHARK BAY PRAWN TRAWLER OPERATORS ASSOCIATION 50,141 46,810

SOUTHERN SEAFOOD PRODUCERS (WA) ASSOCIATION 179,394 125,000

WESTERN ROCK LOBSTER COUNCIL 678,249 633,020

TOTAL ALLOCATION TO SECTOR BODY PAYMENTS 1,038,565 935,645

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2019

$

2018

$

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND 89,179 85,367

CASH RESERVE 152,846 362,698

TERM DEPOSITS 2,063,052 1,943,480

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,305,077 2,391,545

8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2019

$

2018

$

CURRENT

TRADE RECEIVABLES 113,720 125,785

GST RECEIVABLE 11,006 -

REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT 258 4,489

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 124,984 130,274
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

9 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE & MOTOR VEHICLES

2019

$

2018

$

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

AT COST 49,168 46,154

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (38,165) (38,571)

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11,003 7,583

FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND FITTINGS

AT COST 187,421 178,234

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (119,249) (104,477)

TOTAL FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND FITTINGS 68,172 73,757

MOTOR VEHICLES

AT COST 31,520 86,944

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (25,507) (43,673)

TOTAL MOTOR VEHICLES 6,013 43,271

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE  & MOTOR VEHICLES 85,188 124,611

10 PROJECT RESERVE

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

$ $ $

PROJECTS

ACWA (SHELLFISH HATCHERY) 69,500 69,500 34,750

BCS & SOCIAL LICENCE TO OPERATE 50,500 34,000 34,000

COMMONWEALTH MARINE PARKS 40,000 5,000 -

PUBLIC RELATIONS 36,000 - -

REBRANDING 20,000 - -

SEAFOOD TRAIL 52,000 - -

STRATEGIC AND EDUCATION PROGRAM - 38,100 38,100

WA SEAFOOD AWARDS CONTRIBUTION 15,000 - 15,000

TOTAL PROJECT RESERVE 283,000 146,600 121,850

THE FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (FARM) SUB-COMMITTEE IDENTIFIED THE NECESSITY TO
FURTHER IMPROVE THE MECHANICS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BY PROVIDING AN ENTRY INTO THE
ACCOUNTS THAT IDENTIFIES KEY PROJECTS THAT HAVE BEEN APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF WAFIC. 

THE FARM SUB-COMMITTEE AGREED TO ALLOCATE FUNDS FOR STRATEGIC AND EDUCATION PROJECTS
TO FACILITATE THE ORGANISATION’S LONG TERM STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT
REQUIREMENTS. THE LONG TERM PROVISIONING HAS BEEN RAISED THROUGH EQUITY RESERVES. THE
FUNDING OF THESE AND OTHER CURRENT PROJECTS ARE ABLE TO BE DRAWN FROM FUNDS ON DEPOSIT.

11 INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVE

ORIGINALLY DONATED BY INDUSTRY FOR INDUSTRY CAMPAIGNS.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

12 CONTINGENCIES

IN THE OPINION OF THE BOARD, THE ASSOCIATION DID NOT HAVE ANY CONTINGENCIES AT 30 JUNE 2019.

13 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

RECONCILIATION OF RESULT FOR THE YEAR TO CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

2019

$

2018

$

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 226,166 356,155

ADD BACK NON-CASH FLOWS

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE 28,748 37,583

PROJECT LIABILITY MOVEMENTS (84,863) (234,120)

PROJECT RESERVE MOVEMENTS (213,871) (240,324)

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (5,290) 115,632

CHANGE IN OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 15,284 (66)

CHANGE IN LIABILITIES (102,239) (121,661)

CASHFLOW FROM OPERATIONS (136,065) (86,801)

14 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

THE FINANCIAL REPORT WAS AUTHORISED FOR ISSUE ON 14 OCTOBER 2019 BY THE BOARD.

NO MATTERS OR CIRCUMSTANCES HAVE ARISEN SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR WHICH
SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECTED OR MAY SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT THE OPERATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATION, THE
RESULTS OF THOSE OPERATIONS OR THE STATE OF AFFAIRS OF THE ASSOCIATION IN FUTURE FINANCIAL
YEARS.

15 ASSOCIATION DETAILS

THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ASSOCIATION IS:

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

PO BOX 1605

FREMANTLE WA 6959

16 UNEXPENDED PROJECT FUNDS

UNEXPENDED PROJECT FUNDS (FUNDS IN ADVANCE) AT YEAR END ARE CAPITALISED IN THE ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES STATEMENT WHERE THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED THAT THE UNEXPENDED AMOUNTS
ARE COMMITTED TO FUTURE EXPENDITURE. 

PREPAID PROJECT EXPENDITURE INCURRED PRIOR TO THE RECEIPT OF PROJECT INCOME IS OFFSET
AGAINST ANY LIABILITY FOR UNEXPENDED PROJECT FUNDS.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

17 BOARD MEETINGS

MEETINGS HELD & ATTENDED

MEETINGS
ELIGIBLE 

TO ATTEND

2018/19

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

2018/19

MEETINGS
ELIGIBLE

TO ATTEND

2017/18

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

2017/18

ANTHONY HAYGARTH 6 5 - -

ARNO VERBOON - - 1 1

BRUCE COCKMAN 2 2 6 4

CLAYTON NELSON - - 1 1

DON NICHOLLS 6 5 - -

DR RON EDWARDS 6 5 - -

GEORGE KAILIS 2 2 6 5

JAMES CLEMENT 8 8 6 4

JOHN HUTTON 8 7 6 2

KATIE HODSON-THOMAS 2 2 5 5

KYM COFFEY - - 1 1

LEONIE NOBLE 8 8 5 4

NATHAN ADAMS 2 2 6 5

PETER COOKE 6 6 - -

TERRY MOUCHEMORE 8 8 6 5

TONY WESTERBERG 8 8 5 3
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

THE BOARD HAS DETERMINED THAT THE ASSOCIATION IS NOT A REPORTING ENTITY AND THAT THIS SPECIAL
PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORT SHOULD BE PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
OUTLINED IN NOTE 2 TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

IN THE OPINION OF THE BOARD THE FINANCIAL REPORT AS SET OUT ON PAGES 1 TO 4. 

1. PRESENTS FAIRLY THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 AND ITS PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON THAT DATE.

2. AT THE DATE OF THIS STATEMENT, THERE ARE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT WESTERN
AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. WILL BE ABLE TO PAY ITS DEBTS AS AND WHEN THEY FALL
DUE.

THIS STATEMENT IS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD AND IS SIGNED FOR AND ON
BEHALF OF THE BOARD BY:

.........................................................................................

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL CHAIR

 .........................................................................................

FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE CHAIR

DATED THIS .............................. DAY OF .............................. 201914 October

Statement by members of the board
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WESTERN
AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

OPINION

WE HAVE AUDITED THE ACCOMPANYING FINANCIAL REPORT, BEING A SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORT
OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. (THE ASSOCIATION), WHICH COMPRISES THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2019, THE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, THE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AND THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED, AND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDING A SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, AND
MANAGEMENT'S ASSERTION STATEMENT.

IN OUR OPINION, THE ACCOMPANYING FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE ASSOCIATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30
JUNE 2019 IS PREPARED, IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION
ACT (WA) 2015.

BASIS FOR OPINION

WE CONDUCTED OUR AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH AUSTRALIAN AUDITING STANDARDS. OUR
RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THOSE STANDARDS ARE FURTHER DESCRIBED IN THE AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT SECTION OF OUR REPORT. WE ARE
INDEPENDENT OF THE ASSOCIATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE REQUIREMENTS OF
THE ETHICAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACCOUNTING PROFESSIONAL AND ETHICAL STANDARDS BOARD'S APES
110 CODE OF ETHICS FOR PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS (THE CODE) THAT ARE RELEVANT TO OUR AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL REPORT IN AUSTRALIA. WE HAVE ALSO FULFILLED OUR OTHER ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE. 

WE BELIEVE THAT THE AUDIT EVIDENCE WE HAVE OBTAINED IS SUFFICIENT AND APPROPRIATE TO PROVIDE A
BASIS FOR OUR OPINION.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

WE DRAW ATTENTION TO NOTE 1 OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT, WHICH DESCRIBES THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING.
THE FINANCIAL REPORT IS PREPARED TO ASSIST THE ASSOCIATION TO FULFIL THEIR FINANCIAL REPORTING
RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE ASSOCIATIONS ACT.. AS A RESULT, THE FINANCIAL REPORT MAY NOT BE
SUITABLE FOR ANOTHER PURPOSE. OUR REPORT IS INTENDED SOLELY FOR THE ASSOCIATION AND SHOULD
NOT BE DISTRIBUTED TO OR USED BY PARTIES OTHER THAN THE ASSOCIATION. OUR OPINION IS NOT
MODIFIED IN RESPECT OF THIS MATTER.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

WE DRAW ATTENTION TO NOTE 10 OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT, WHICH ILLUSTRATES THE ADDITION OF THE
PROVISION FOR FUTURE PROJECTS. THE ALLOCATED FUNDS ARE FOR STRATEGIC AND EDUCATION
PROJECTS TO FACILITATE THE ORGANISATION’S LONG TERM STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EDUCATION
DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS, APPROVED BY THE FINANCIAL AUDIT RISK MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE.
THE PROVISION RAISED IN RESERVES HASN'T BEEN INCLUDED AS PART OF OUR AUDIT TESTING, AND OUR
OPINION IS NOT MODIFIED IN RESPECT OF THIS MATTER.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

MANAGEMENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PREPARATION AND FAIR PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION ACT (WA) 2015, AND FOR SUCH INTERNAL CONTROL
AS MANAGEMENT DETERMINES IS NECESSARY TO ENABLE THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT IS
FREE FROM MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT, WHETHER DUE TO FRAUD OR ERROR.

IN PREPARING THE FINANCIAL REPORT, MANAGEMENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ASSESSING THE THE
ASSOCIATION'S ABILITY TO CONTINUE AS A GOING CONCERN, DISCLOSING, AS APPLICABLE, MATTERS
RELATED TO GOING CONCERN AND USING THE GOING CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING UNLESS
MANAGEMENT EITHER INTENDS TO LIQUIDATE THE ASSOCIATION OR TO CEASE OPERATIONS, OR HAS NO
REALISTIC ALTERNATIVE BUT TO DO SO.

THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR OVERSEEING THE ASSOCIATION'S FINANCIAL
REPORTING PROCESS.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

OUR OBJECTIVES ARE TO OBTAIN REASONABLE ASSURANCE ABOUT WHETHER THE FINANCIAL REPORT AS A
WHOLE IS FREE FROM MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT, WHETHER DUE TO FRAUD OR ERROR, AND TO ISSUE AN
AUDITOR’S REPORT THAT INCLUDES OUR OPINION. REASONABLE ASSURANCE IS A HIGH LEVEL OF
ASSURANCE, BUT IS NOT A GUARANTEE THAT AN AUDIT CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUSTRALIAN
AUDITING STANDARDS WILL ALWAYS DETECT A MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT WHEN IT EXISTS. MISSTATEMENTS
CAN ARISE FROM FRAUD OR ERROR AND ARE CONSIDERED MATERIAL IF, INDIVIDUALLY OR IN THE
AGGREGATE, THEY COULD REASONABLY BE EXPECTED TO INFLUENCE THE ECONOMIC DECISIONS OF USERS
TAKEN ON THE BASIS OF THIS FINANCIAL REPORT.

AS PART OF AN AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUSTRALIAN AUDITING STANDARDS, WE EXERCISE
PROFESSIONAL JUDGEMENT AND MAINTAIN PROFESSIONAL SCEPTICISM THROUGHOUT THE AUDIT. WE ALSO:

 IDENTIFY AND ASSESS THE RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT, WHETHER

DUE TO FRAUD OR ERROR, DESIGN AND PERFORM AUDIT PROCEDURES RESPONSIVE TO THOSE RISKS,

AND OBTAIN AUDIT EVIDENCE THAT IS SUFFICIENT AND APPROPRIATE TO PROVIDE A BASIS FOR OUR

OPINION. THE RISK OF NOT DETECTING A MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT RESULTING FROM FRAUD IS

HIGHER THAN FOR ONE RESULTING FROM ERROR, AS FRAUD MAY INVOLVE COLLUSION, FORGERY,

INTENTIONAL OMISSIONS, MISREPRESENTATIONS, OR THE OVERRIDE OF INTERNAL CONTROL.

 OBTAIN AN UNDERSTANDING OF INTERNAL CONTROL RELEVANT TO THE AUDIT IN ORDER TO DESIGN

AUDIT PROCEDURES THAT ARE APPROPRIATE IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES, BUT NOT FOR THE PURPOSE OF

EXPRESSING AN OPINION ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE ASSOCIATION’S INTERNAL CONTROL.

 EVALUATE THE APPROPRIATENESS OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES USED AND THE REASONABLENESS OF

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND RELATED DISCLOSURES MADE BY THE MANAGEMENT

.
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 CONCLUDE ON THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE MANAGEMENT’S USE OF THE GOING CONCERN BASIS

OF ACCOUNTING AND, BASED ON THE AUDIT EVIDENCE OBTAINED, WHETHER A MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY

EXISTS RELATED TO EVENTS OR CONDITIONS THAT MAY CAST SIGNIFICANT DOUBT ON THE

ASSOCIATION’S ABILITY TO CONTINUE AS A GOING CONCERN.  IF WE CONCLUDE THAT A MATERIAL

UNCERTAINTY EXISTS, WE ARE REQUIRED TO DRAW ATTENTION IN OUR AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE

RELATED DISCLOSURES IN THE FINANCIAL REPORTER, IF SUCH DISCLOSURES ARE INADEQUATE, TO

MODIFY OUR OPINION. OUR CONCLUSIONS ARE BASED ON THE AUDIT EVIDENCE OBTAINED UP TO THE

DATE OF OUR AUDITOR’S REPORT. HOWEVER, FUTURE EVENTS OR CONDITIONS MAY CAUSE THE

ASSOCIATION TO CEASE TO CONTINUE AS A GOING CONCERN.

 EVALUATE THE OVERALL PRESENTATION, STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT,

INCLUDING THE DISCLOSURES, AND WHETHER THE FINANCIAL REPORT REPRESENTS THE UNDERLYING

TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS IN A MANNER THAT ACHIEVES FAIR PRESENTATION

WE COMMUNICATE WITH THE MANAGEMENT REGARDING, AMONG OTHER MATTERS, THE PLANNED SCOPE AND
TIMING OF THE AUDIT AND SIGNIFICANT AUDIT FINDINGS, INCLUDING ANY SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES IN
INTERNAL CONTROL THAT WE IDENTIFY DURING OUR AUDIT

WE ALSO PROVIDE THE MANAGEMENT WITH A STATEMENT THAT WE HAVE COMPLIED WITH RELEVANT
ETHICAL REQUIREMENTS REGARDING INDEPENDENCE, AND TO COMMUNICATE WITH THEM ALL
RELATIONSHIPS AND OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY REASONABLY BE THOUGHT TO BEAR ON OUR
INDEPENDENCE, AND WHERE APPLICABLE, RELATED SAFEGUARDS.

FROM THE MATTERS COMMUNICATED WITH THE MANAGEMENT, WE DETERMINE THOSE MATTERS THAT WERE
OF MOST SIGNIFICANCE IN THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE CURRENT PERIOD AND ARE
THEREFORE THE KEY AUDIT MATTERS. WE DESCRIBE THESE MATTERS IN OUR AUDITOR’S REPORT UNLESS
LAW OR REGULATION PRECLUDES PUBLIC DISCLOSURE ABOUT THE MATTER OR WHEN, IN EXTREMELY RARE
CIRCUMSTANCES, WE DETERMINE THAT A MATTER SHOULD NOT BE COMMUNICATED IN OUR REPORT
BECAUSE THE ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES OF DOING SO WOULD REASONABLY BE EXPECTED TO OUTWEIGH
THE PUBLIC INTEREST BENEFITS OF SUCH COMMUNICATION.

DANIEL PAPAPHOTIS
REGISTERED COMPANY AUDITOR
# - 410503
FRANCIS A JONES PTY LTD
FREMANTLE WA 6160

DATED: 14TH OCTOBER 2019
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